# EFFECTIVENESS OF A BRIEF STRESS REDUCTION INTERVENTION FOR NURSING STUDENTS IN REDUCING PHYSIOLOGICAL STRESS INDICATORS AND IMPROVING WELL-BEING AND MENTAL HEALTH

by

Diane K. Leggett

A dissertation submitted to the faculty of
The University of Utah
in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of

Doctor of Philosophy

Department of Health Promotion and Education

The University of Utah

December 2010

Copyright © Diane K. Leggett 2010

All Rights Reserved

# The University of Utah Graduate School

# STATEMENT OF DISSERTATION APPROVAL

The dissertation of	Diane K Leggett	
has been approved by the following supervisory committee members:		
Karol L. Kumpfer	, Chair	August 11, 2010 Date Approved
Margaret F. Clayton	, Co-Chair	August 11, 2010 Date Approved
John Richard Graham	, Member	August 11, 2010 Date Approved
Keely Cofrin Allen	, Member	August 11, 2010 Date Approved
Dale Maughan	, Member	August 11, 2010  Date Approved
and by Glenn E. Ric the Department of Health	hardson Promotion and Educ	, Chair of

and by Charles A. Wight, Dean of The Graduate School.

### **ABSTRACT**

Nursing students are faced with stress on a regular basis, which can impact physical and psychological functioning. Despite the identification of stress, anxiety, poor performance, and risk for depression, few studies identify measures to manage stress in a student nurse population. The purpose of this study was to examine the effectiveness of a brief mindfulness breathing intervention to decrease stress and ultimately the risk for depression while increasing self-efficacy with clinical skills performance in a 1st-year student nurse population.

Participants were recruited from an associate degree nursing program at a northwestern university. Data gathered included demographic information, depression scores, physiological measures (i.e., blood pressure and pulse), self-efficacy scores, and skills performance scores. The design was a two-group (experimental and no-treatment control) true experimental randomized control trial with the following four repeated measures: (a) pretest, (b) posttest, (c) 2-month follow-up test, and (d) 4-month follow-up test. Data collection took place from November 2009 to March 2010. The sample (N = 85) was predominantly female (87.1%, n = 74) and Caucasian (89.4%, n = 86). Fifty-six of the participants were married and 46% of the participants identified themselves as parents of children still living at home.

Analyses of variance demonstrated a greater mean decrease for the intervention group than for the treatment-as-usual group following the mindfulness breathing

intervention for depression, F(1,82) = 6.864, p = .010; systolic, F(1,81) = 6.557, p = .012; and diastolic, F(1,81) = 6.078, p = .016—measures indicating the intervention may be of benefit. Pulse did not reach statistical significance. Analyses of variance for mindfulness, self-efficacy, and skills performance did not reach significance. Correlations conducted on measures indicated that as depression decreased, systolic and diastolic measures also decreased. As mindfulness increased, self-efficacy increased, and as self-efficacy increased, skills performance also increased.

These results suggest that mindfulness may be of benefit as a method to decrease the risk for depression while contributing to increased self-efficacy and skills performance in a student nurse population. Although not all measures achieved statistical significance, the findings are encouraging for increasing feelings of confidence, leading to a more rewarding educational experience in nursing students.

# TABLE OF CONTENTS

		Page
ABS	STRACT	iii
LIS	T OF TABLES	viii
CH	APTER	
1.	INTRODUCTION	1
	Summary of Chapters	
	Significance of the Study	3
	Research Aims	
	Participant Selection Criteria	
	Design	
	Research Questions and Hypotheses	
	Limitations	
	Delimitations	
	References	13
2.	LITERATURE REVIEW	19
	Stress and Response	22
	Stress and Learning	
	Stress and Self-Efficacy	
	Nursing Student Stressors	
	Stress, Self-Efficacy, and Interventions	
	Mindfulness	
	Mindfulness-Based Stress Reduction	
	Mindfulness-Based Stress Reduction and Nursing Students	
	Summary	
	References	
3.	EFFECTS OF MINDFULNESS BREATHING INTERVENTION	
3.		
	ON STUDENT NURSES' STRESS AND RISK FOR	<i>5</i> 2
	DEPRESSION MAIN RESULTS	33
	Paakaraund	52

		Page
	Purpose	57
	Research Questions and Hypotheses	
	Methods	
	Analyses and Results	67
	Discussion	75
	Limitations	78
	Recommendations	79
	Conclusion	80
	References	80
4.	EFFECTS OF MINDFULNESS BREATHING ON MINDFULNESS, SELF-EFFICACY, AND SKILLS PERFORMANCE IN	
	FIRST-YEAR STUDENT NURSES	87
	Purpose	89
	Research Questions and Hypotheses	89
	Methods	
	Data Analysis Procedures and Results	95
	Discussion	105
	Limitations	107
	Recommendations	108
	Conclusion	109
	References	109
5.	SUMMARY AND CONCLUSIONS	113
	Research Questions	113
	Results	115
	Study Limitations	118
	Applications	119
	References	121
APP	PENDICES	
A.	CONSENT AND AUTHORIZATION	123
B.	STUDENT CLINICAL COMPLETION APPRAISAL FORM	127
C.	DEMOGRAPHIC SURVEY	130
D.	MINDFUL BREATHING SCRIPT	133

		Page
E.	DEBRIEFING SCRIPT	136
F.	DAILY PRACTICE LOG AND PHYSIOLOGICAL MEASURES	138

# LIST OF TABLES

Table		Page
3.1	Frequency and Percentage of Gender	59
3.2	Frequency and Percentage of Race	59
3.3	Frequency and Percentage of Marital Status	59
3.4	Frequency and Percentage of Ages of Participant's Children Living at Home	60
3.5	Analyses of Variance on Depression Variable Across Four Repeated Measures by Group: Intervention Compared With Control	69
3.6	Means and Standard Deviations on Center for Epidemiologic Studies Depression Scale Over Four Repeated Measures by Group: Intervention Compared With Control	70
3.7	Analyses of Variance Results of Blood Pressure and Pulse Measures by Group: Intervention Compared With Control	71
3.8	Means and Standard Deviations on Research Variables by Group: Intervention Compared With Control	73
3.9	T Tests on Physiological Measures by Depression	75
4.1	Effects of Mindfulness Breathing on Mindfulness Attention Awareness Scale (Analyses of Variance by Group): Intervention Compared With Control by Four Repeated Measures	97
4.2	Means and Standard Deviations on Research Variables by Group (Intervention Compared With Control): Mindfulness Attention Awareness Scale	98
4.3	Analyses of Variance on Research Variables by Group: Intervention Compared With Control	99

Table		Page
4.4	Means and Standard Deviations on Research Variables by Group (Intervention Compared With Control): Student Clinical Completion Appraisal Form	101
4.5	Analyses of Variance on Research Variables by Group: Intervention Compared With Control	102
4.6	Means and Standard Deviations on Research Variables by Group: Intervention Compared With Control	103
4.7	Pearson Correlations on Research Variables	104

# CHAPTER 1

### INTRODUCTION

The purpose of this study was to investigate a brief stress reduction intervention as a method of decreasing stress and ultimately the risk for depression while increasing self-efficacy with clinical skill performance in a 1st-year student nurse population. Health care has been identified as an area of increased stress for workers (Geiger-Brown, Muntaner, & Trinkoff, 2004; Marine, Routsalainen, Serra, & Verbeek, 2009; Tveito & Eriksen, 2009) with higher expectations, increased demands, limited time, and decreased social support. These factors contribute to adverse psychological and physical symptoms, decreased work performance, absenteeism, and burnout. With the nursing profession contributing to the largest portion of providers, stress and its effects are an area of concern.

Prior to practicing as a nurse, an individual must complete educational requirements and pass board examinations to obtain a license for practice. Stress can begin early in the profession during the educational process (Beddoe & Murphy, 2004; Evans & Kelly, 2004; Jones & Johnston, 1997; Watson et al., 2009; Young, Bruce, & Turner, 2001), with some students reporting decreased feelings of confidence and an ability to complete tasks (Evans & Kelly; Moscaritolo, 2009). This diminished confidence in ability can increase anxiety and stress, leading to a lack of confidence and, potentially, the risk for depression. Tasanapradit (2008) found that medical students were at a higher

risk for depression, as measured by the Center for Epidemiologic Studies Depression Scale, from stress associated with demands of university training. Thus, learning stress management techniques as a student has the potential to contribute to improved student and professional outcomes.

Although studies have been conducted relating to stressors, outcomes, and some interventions, this study addressed the lack of knowledge connecting stress management and self-efficacy in skills performance. *Self-efficacy* is defined as a personal belief in an ability to produce certain outcomes (Bandura, 1997; Janz, Champion, & Strecher, 2002), which is an important aspect for clinical skills. Bandura stated, "Students who have a low sense of efficacy to manage academic demands are especially vulnerable to achievement anxiety" (p. 235). The current study conducted a trial of a brief stress management intervention among 1st-year nursing students to decrease stress and the risk for depression while increasing mindfulness and self-efficacy.

# **Summary of Chapters**

This dissertation followed a three-article format. The content for each of the chapters is outlined in the following paragraphs:

Chapter 1 is an introduction and overview of the dissertation and research. A description and summary of each chapter are included. The significance, purpose, research procedures, and study limitations are introduced.

Chapter 2 is the literature review, which is written as an article for publication. This review includes information on stress and its effects on the individual, stress reduction interventions, self-efficacy, and mindfulness. This information is discussed in relation to health professions and, more specifically, nurses and nursing students.

Chapter 3 is a discussion of the main results of the brief mindfulness intervention

on improving a participant's risk for depression and physiological stress measures. This chapter is written as an article for publication.

Chapter 4 includes secondary results of the study examining the effectiveness of the brief mindfulness intervention on improving mediators of actually improving the hypothesized mindfulness awareness, self-efficacy, and clinical skills performance. Correlations of mindfulness with other outcome measures are also examined. This chapter is written as an article for publication.

Chapter 5 contains a discussion of the implications of the study results for including a brief mindfulness intervention when teaching clinical skills to 1st-year nursing students, including the limitations and recommendations for future research and practice.

# Significance of the Study

Stress is defined as "a condition in which the person experiences changes in the normal, balanced state" (Berman, Snyder, Kozier, & Erb, 2008, p. 1061). Stress is an almost universal experience and can occur from both positive and negative experiences. The stress response leads to physiological changes in the body described as a fight or flight response (Berman et al.; Sapolsky, 2004; Smeltzer, Bare, Hinkle, & Cheever, 2007). These changes disrupt the normal functioning of systems in the body and result in an adaptation response to regain homeostasis or stability. Stress can be an actual physical threat or the thoughts of a possible threat. The anxiety produced from thoughts can become as damaging physically as an actual threat (Sapolsky). Small amounts of stress assist individuals to maintain an alert state of mind that increases attention and learning, but prolonged exposure to stress can lead to decreased functioning and a decline in health both mentally and physically (Berman et al.; Sapolsky; Smeltzer et al.). Research has

demonstrated that individuals with chronic stress have more depressive symptoms as measured by the Center for Epidemiologic Studies Depression Scale depression instrument (Mortimer et al., 2005; Tasanapradit, 2008). Diminished feelings of well-being can lead to an increase in the risk for depression with a decrease in learning and positive feelings of accomplishment. This downward trend can increase anxiety, contributing to further negative emotions (Anisman & Zacharko, 1982; Dolan, 2002; Kendler, Hettema, Butera, Gardner, & Prescott, 2003; Kendler, Karkowski, & Prescott, 1999; Paykel et al., 1969).

# **Practicing Nurses**

The work environment is frequently a source of stress with workplace relations, physical demands, and mental demands. Nursing has been identified as an occupation with high stress levels from increasing patient acuity, extended work hours with varying time schedules, and daily exposure to illness, pain, and loss (Cohen-Katz, Wiley, Capuano, Baker, & Shapiro, 2004; Fukuda, Ichinose, Kusama, Anndow, & Akiyoshi, 2008; Golbasi, Kelleci, & Dogan, 2008; McVicar, 2003; Watson et al., 2009). These factors increase the risk for chronic stress, emotional exhaustion, and burnout (Cohen-Katz et al.; Salovey, Rothman, Detweiler, & Steward, 2000; Sapolsky, 2004).

# Student Nurses

Not only is the profession of nursing stressful but the journey to obtain a license to practice as a nurse has been identified as a high source of stress (Beck & Srivastava, 1991; Billingsley, Collins, & Miller, 2007; Jones & Johnston, 1997). Nursing students face many challenges during their educational process due to clinical placement, a theory-practice gap, and the nurse-student relationship (referred to as being the most stressful;

Beck & Srivastava; Billingsley et al.; Jones & Johnston; Levett-Jones, Lathlean, Higgins, & McMillan, 2009). Increased stress decreases learning and can lead to errors (Welker-Hood, 2006) with a resulting decline in a belief of capabilities to perform procedures. Bandura (1997) stated, "If people believe they have no power to produce results, they will not attempt to make things happen" (p. 3). This point is important, considering that much of the work of nursing students is based on performance and that the stressors previously listed relate to clinical performance. Maciejewski, Prigerson, and Mazure (2000) found that increased self-efficacy decreased the effects of stressful events in a probability sample of individuals over the age of 25. Manojlovich (2005) found that personal self-efficacy had a strong relationship with practice behaviors. Stress, feelings of inadequacy from lack of knowledge, and limited positive reinforcement from mentor nurses can contribute to diminished self-efficacy. All of these factors can lead to emotional burnout and increased risk of depression during the educational process (Cohen-Katz et al., 2004; Mackenzie, Poulin, & Seidman-Carlson, 2006).

# Stress and Interventions

In order to enhance the learning environment and prevent adverse effects of stress, measures should be instituted early in the educational process. A variety of interventions have demonstrated the ability to manage educationally related stress and related symptoms (Brunero, Cowan, & Fairbrother, 2008; Jain et al., 2007; Jones & Johnston, 2000; Marine et al., 2009; Moscaritolo, 2009; Stephens, 1992). Few studies exist that examine the use of mindfulness in a student nurse population. The current study examined the use of mindfulness breathing to increase feelings of self-efficacy in the performance of skills in the clinical area and to increase feelings of well-being.

Mindfulness is easily learned (Allen, Blashki, & Gullone, 2006), it decreases negative

responses such as fear or apprehension (Arch & Craske, 2006), and it positively affects well-being while decreasing tension, anxiety, and stress (Brown & Ryan, 2003). Metaanalytic reviews by Baer (2003) and Grossman, Nieman, Schmidt, and Walach (2004) found moderate effect sizes when averaged for studies investigating the usefulness of mindfulness as an intervention. Brown, Ryan, and Creswell (2007) examined findings in recent randomized clinical trials and found positive results for mental and physical health through the use of mindfulness. Studies have examined the use of mindfulness as an intervention to reduce stress in the health-care population, focusing mainly on practicing nurses, graduate nurses, or medical students (Cohen-Katz et al., 2005; Jain et al.; Mackenzie et al., 2006; O'Haver-Day & Horton-Deutsh, 2004; Shapiro, Astin, Bishop, & Cordova, 2005; Tsai & Crockett, 1993; Young et al., 2001). One study examined the use of mindfulness as a stress management technique. Beddoe and Murphy (2004) tested a convenience sample of baccalaureate nursing students for changes in stress and empathy following an 8-week course of mindfulness based on stress reduction training. The results demonstrated decreased stress, as measured by the Derogatis Stress Profile, and increased empathy, as measured by the Interpersonal Reactivity Index. The students also completed a posttest questionnaire that was used to correlate attitude and behavior changes. No studies were found that linked mindfulness breathing to self-efficacy and clinical skills. Hence, the current study was the first randomized control trial to examine the effect of a brief mindfulness breathing intervention to reduce clinical practice stress and depression and improvements in clinical skills in 1st-year nursing students. In addition, the hypothesized mediators of increased mindfulness and increased self-efficacy were also measured.

# Research Aims

The purpose of this study was to develop and test a brief intervention to reduce stress, feelings of inadequacy, and risk for depression by increasing self-efficacy associated with critical nursing skills and, thereby, improve skills performance in 1st-year nursing students. In order to achieve this goal, the following three aims were proposed:

- Aim 1, to determine the immediate and 4-month longitudinal effectiveness
  of a brief intervention for stress management to increase mindfulness,
  increase self-efficacy, decrease feelings of inadequacy leading to a risk for
  depression, and improve clinical skill performance with 1st-year nursing
  students
- Aim 2, to determine the association of mindfulness to physiological measures of stress (i.e., blood pressure and pulse), increase self-efficacy, emotional well-being or risk of depression, and clinical performance in a sample of 1st-year nursing students
- 3. Aim 3, to determine if students at higher risk for depression, as measured by the Center for Epidemiologic Studies Depression Scale (Radloff, 1977) scores of 16 or greater, have considerable improvements in mindfulness, self-efficacy, and physiological measures of stress (i.e., blood pressure and pulse) than lower-risk students at baseline.

An additional, longer-term goal of this study was to include stress reduction modules in the regular curriculum at the university should this study demonstrate their effectiveness. Publications and presentations at conferences will help to disseminate the results to other university nursing programs.

# Participant Selection Criteria

Participants in this study were recruited from 120, 1st-year nursing students enrolled in 1 of 12 fall classes known as Foundations of Nursing Practice Clinical.

Participants were 2-year associate degree nursing students. The students were in their 1st year of the nursing program. The participants were both men (15%) and women (85%), with ages ranging from 19 to 50 years. None of the students was below the age of 19 years. The ethnicity of the participants was approximately 90% Caucasian. Age 19 was selected as the cutoff for inclusion because the youngest age of students enrolled in the Foundations of Nursing Practice Clinical classes was listed as 19, which allowed all students the opportunity to participate. Inclusion criteria included all students enrolled in 1 of the 12 Foundations of Nursing Practice Clinical classes who had voluntarily signed consent forms to participate in the research (see Appendix A). Exclusion criteria included any enrolled students who did not sign the consent forms to participate in the research or who did not complete the Foundations of Nursing Practice Clinical class and dropped out of the study.

### Design

The design was a two-group (experimental and no-treatment control) true experimental randomized control trial design with the following four repeated measures: (a) pretest, (b) posttest, (c) 2-month follow-up test, and (d) 4-month follow-up test. The no-treatment control group was a treatment-as-usual group that received the psychological measurements (i.e., blood pressure and pulse) and the regular Foundations of Nursing Practice Clinical class but received no brief mindfulness stress management treatment modules. The 12 Foundations of Nursing Practice Clinical classes were randomly assigned in order to receive the brief stress intervention or the no-treatment

intervention in the regular Foundations of Nursing Practice Clinical classes. Because all students in the 12 Foundations of Nursing Practice Clinical classes received the treatment group or the control group, the effective sample size was 12 classes. Because of the nesting effects, statistical methods to control for this interdependency were conducted in the data analysis using hierarchical linear modeling.

# Research Questions and Hypotheses

Research questions and hypotheses guided the study.

# Research Question 1

Compared with the no-treatment group, is there a decrease in depression scores after participating in the brief stress reduction intervention as measured by the Center for Epidemiologic Studies Depression Scale (Radloff, 1977)?

# Hypothesis 1

It was hypothesized that the mean decrease and effect sizes for the depression scores in the treatment group would be larger than the treatment-as-usual group.

# Research Question 2

Compared with the no-treatment control group, are the participants' physiological measures of stress (i.e., blood pressure and pulse) lower at later measurements than at baseline following participation in the mindfulness breathing?

# Hypothesis 2

It was hypothesized that the mean decrease in effect sizes for the physiological measures of stress (i.e., blood pressure and pulse) scores in the treatment group would be larger than the treatment-as-usual group.

# Research Question 3

Is there greater improvement in higher-risk students for relative risk of depression, as determined by the Center for Epidemiologic Studies Depression Scale (Radloff, 1977) scores of 16 or greater, in measures of stress, as determined by physiological measures of blood pressure and pulse, than lower-risk students at baseline?

# Hypothesis 3

It was hypothesized that the higher-risk students for depression at baseline would have larger improvements in outcomes.

# Research Question 4

Compared with the no-treatment control group, is there an increase in mindfulness scores for the brief stress reduction intervention participants after completing the mindfulness breathing as measured by the Mindfulness Attention Awareness Scale (Brown & Ryan, 2003)?

# Hypothesis 4

It was hypothesized that the mean increase and effect sizes for the mindfulness scores in the treatment group would be higher than the treatment-as-usual group.

# Research Question 5

Compared with the no-treatment control group, is there an increase in self-efficacy after completing the mindfulness breathing stress reduction intervention as measured by the Student Clinical Completion Appraisal form (see Appendix B)?

# Hypothesis 5

It was hypothesized that the mean increase in effect sizes for the self-efficacy scores in the treatment group would be higher than the treatment-as-usual group.

# Research Question 6

Compared with the no-treatment control group, is there an increase in clinical performance skills following participation in the mindfulness breathing as demonstrated by individual performance grading sheets?

# Hypothesis 6

It was hypothesized that the mean increase and effect sizes for the clinical performance skills scores in the treatment group would be higher than the treatment-as-usual group.

The null hypothesis to be tested for all of these hypotheses is that there will be no difference between the treatment and control groups in the outcome measure of interest in the research question and hypothesis.

# Limitations

Limitations of this study reflect possible threats to internal validity. For example,

stress management was discussed in the classroom setting with all of the students several times during the semester, which may have led to a change in behavior not related to the intervention in both the control and treatment-as-usual groups. The questionnaires were administered five times over a 4-month span, which could have led to familiarity with the measures that may have had an effect on the results. For those students nested in classes within a school, the selection of participants presented the greatest challenge. Students were randomized by groups or classes according to clinical instructors. Statistical control was managed by using hierarchical linear modeling for analysis, which allows for a multilevel analysis (Bickel, 2007; Osborne, 2000). Another limitation was that the study could not be conducted until after approval by the Institutional Review Board of the University of Utah, which delayed the intervention until the end of the clinical skills class.

### **Delimitations**

Because a true experimental design was used, threats to internal validity should be controlled; however, there could have been threats to external validity of the results such as generalization or fidelity to the curriculum. The sample for this study consisted of a group of nursing students located in a university in northern Utah. The population included both men and women of various ages, with the group being predominantly Caucasian, middle-class females in their 20s. These demographics limited external validity or generalization of the results to students in other geographic regions or age groups.

# References

- Allen, N. B., Blashki, G., & Gullone, E. (2006). Mindfulness-based psychotherapies: A review of conceptual foundations, empirical evidence, and practical considerations. *Australian and New Zealand Journal of Psychiatry*, 40, 285-294.
- Anisman, H., & Zacharko, R. (1982). Depression: The predisposing influence of stress. *Behavioral and Brain Science*, *5*(1), 89-137.
- Arch, J. J., & Craske, M. G. (2006). Mechanisms of mindfulness: Emotion regulation following a focused breathing induction. *Behavior Research and Therapy*, 44(12), 1849-1858.
- Baer, R. A. (2003). Mindfulness training as a clinical intervention: A conceptual and empirical review. *Clinical Psychology: Science and Practice*, 10(2), 125-143.
- Bandura, A. (1997). *Self-efficacy: The exercise of control*. New York: W. H. Freeman and Company.
- Beck, D., & Srivastava, R. (1991). Perceived level and sources of stress in baccalaureate nursing students. *Journal of Nursing Education*, *30*, 127-133.
- Beddoe, A. E., & Murphy, S. O. (2004). Does mindfulness decrease stress and foster empathy among nursing students? *Journal of Nursing Education*, 34(7), 305-312.
- Berman, A., Snyder, S. J., Kozier, B., & Erb, G. (2008). Fundamentals of nursing: Concepts, process, and practice (8th ed.). Upper Saddle River, NJ: Pearson Prentice Hall.
- Bickel, R. (2007). *Multilevel analysis for applied research: It's just regression*. New York: The Guilford Press.
- Billingsley, S. K., Collins, A. M., & Miller, M. (2007). Student issues. Healthy student, healthy nurse: A stress management workshop. *Nurse Educator*, *32*(2), 49-51.
- Brown, K. W., & Ryan, R. M. (2003). The benefits of being present: Mindfulness and its role in psychological well-being. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 84, 822-848.
- Brown, K. W., Ryan, R. M., & Creswell, J. D. (2007). Mindfulness: Theoretical foundations and evidence for its salutary effects. *Psychological Inquiry*, *18*, 211-237.

- Brunero, S., Cowan, D., & Fairbrother, G. (2008). Reducing emotional distress in nurses using cognitive behavioral therapy: A preliminary program evaluation. *Japan Journal of Nursing Science*, 5(2), 109-115.
- Cohen-Katz, J., Wiley, S. D., Capuano, T., Baker, D. M., Kimmel, S., & Shapiro, S. (2005). The effects of mindfulness-based stress reduction on nurse stress and burnout. Part 2: A quantitative and qualitative study. *Holistic Nursing Practice*, 19(1), 26-35.
- Cohen-Katz, J., Wiley, S. D., Capuano, T., Baker, D. M., & Shapiro, S. (2004). The effects of mindfulness-based stress reduction on nurse stress and burnout. *Holistic Nursing Practice*, 18(6), 302-308.
- Dolan, R. J. (2002). Emotion, cognition, and behavior. Science, 298, 1191-1194.
- Evans, W., & Kelly, B. (2004). Preregistration diploma student nurse stress and coping measures. *Nurse Education Today*, *24*, 473-482.
- Fukuda, H., Ichinose, T., Kusama, T., Anndow, K., & Akiyoshi, N. (2008). Stress assessment in acute care department nurses by measuring interleukin-8. *International Nursing Review*, 55(4), 407-411.
- Geiger-Brown, J., Muntaner, J. L., & Trinkoff, A. (2004). Demanding work schedules and mental health in nursing assistants working in nursing homes. *Work & Stress*, 18(4), 292-304.
- Golbasi, Z., Kelleci, M., & Dogan, S. (2008). Relationships between coping strategies, individual characteristics, and job satisfaction in a sample of hospital nurses: Cross-sectional questionnaire survey. *International Journal of Nursing Studies*, 45(12), 1800-1806.
- Grossman, P., Nieman, L., Schmidt, S., & Walach, H. (2004). Mindfulness-based stress reduction and health benefits: A meta-analysis. *Journal of Psychosomatic Research*, *57*, 35-43.
- Jain, S., Shapiro, S. L., Swanick, S., Roesch, S. C., Mills, P. J., Bell, I. et al. (2007). A randomized controlled trial of mindfulness meditation versus relaxation training: Effects on distress, positive states of mind, rumination, and distraction. *Annals of Behavioral Medicine*, 33(1), 11-21.
- Janz, N. K., Champion, V. L., & Strecher, V. J. (2002). The health belief model. In K. Glanz, B. K. Rimer, & F. M. Lewis (Eds.), *Health behavior and health education: Theory, research, and practice* (3rd ed., pp. 45-66). San Francisco: Jossey-Bass.

- Jones, M. C., & Johnston, D. W. (1997). Distress, stress, and coping in first-year student nurses. *Journal of Advanced Nursing*, 26(4), 475-482.
- Jones, M. C., & Johnston, D. W. (2000). Evaluating the impact of a work site stress management program for distressed students: A randomized controlled trial. *Psychology and Health*, *15*, 689-706.
- Kendler, K. S., Hettema, J. M., Butera, F., Gardner, C. O., & Prescott, C. A. (2003). Life event dimensions of loss, humiliation, entrapment, and danger in the prediction of major depression and generalized anxiety. *Archives of General Psychiatry*, 60, 789-796.
- Kendler, K. S., Karkowski, L. M., & Prescott, C. A. (1999). Causal relationship between stressful life events and the onset of major depression. *American Journal of Psychiatry*, 156(6), 837-841.
- Levett-Jones, T., Lathlean, J., Higgins, I., & McMillan, M. (2009). Staff-student relationships and their impact on nursing students' belongingness and learning. *Journal of Advanced Nursing*, 65(2), 316-324.
- Maciejewski, P., Prigerson, H., & Mazure, C. (2000). Self-efficacy as a mediator between stressful life events and depressive symptoms: Differences based on a history of prior depression. *British Journal of Psychiatry*, *176*, 373-378.
- Mackenzie, C. S., Poulin, P. A., & Seidman-Carlson, R. (2006). A brief mindfulness-based stress reduction intervention for nurses. *Applied Nursing Research*, 19(2), 105-109.
- Manojlovich, M. (2005). Promoting nurses' self-efficacy: A leadership strategy to improve practice. *Journal of Nursing Administration*, *35*(5), 271-278.
- Marine, A., Routsalainen, J. H., Serra, C., & Verbeek, J. H. (2009). *Preventing occupational stress in health-care workers* [Electronic version]. Hoboken, NJ: John Wiley & Sons Ltd.
- McVicar, A. (2003). Workplace stress in nursing. *Journal of Advanced Nursing*, 44, 633-642.
- Mortimer, J. S. B., Sephton, S. E., Kimerling, R., Butler, L., Bernstein, A. S., & Spiegel, D. (2005). Chronic stress, depression, and immunity in spouses of metastatic breast cancer patients. *Clinical Psychologist*, *9*(2), 59-63.

- Moscaritolo, L. M. (2009). Interventional strategies to decrease nursing student anxiety in the clinical learning environment. *Journal of Nursing Education*, 48(1), 17-23.
- O'Haver-Day, P., & Horton-Deutsh, S. (2004). Using mindfulness-based therapeutic interventions in psychiatric nursing practice. Part 1: Description and empirical support for mindfulness-based interventions. *Archives of Psychiatric Nursing*, 18(5), 164-169.
- Osborne, J. W. (2000). Advantages of hierarchical linear modeling. *Practical Assessment, Research, & Evaluation, 7*(1). Retrieved August 16, 2009, from http://PAREonline.net/getvn.asp?v=7&n=1
- Paykel, E. S., Myers, J. K., Dienelt, M. N., Klerman, G. L., Lindenthal, J. J., & Pepper, M. P. (1969). Life events and depression: A controlled study. *Archives of General Psychiatry*, 21, 753-760.
- Radloff, L. S. (1977). The CES-D Scale: A self-report depression scale for research in the general population. *Applied Psychological Measurement*, *1*(3), 385-401.
- Salovey, P., Rothman, A. J., Detweiler, J. B., & Steward, W. T. (2000). Emotional states and physical health. *American Psychologist*, 55(1), 110-121.
- Sapolsky, R. M. (2004). *Why zebras don't get ulcers* (3rd ed.). New York: Henry Holt and Company.
- Shapiro, S. L., Astin, J. A., Bishop, S. R., & Cordova, M. (2005). Mindfulness-based stress reduction for health-care professionals: Results from a randomized trial. *International Journal of Stress Management*, 12, 164-176.
- Smeltzer, S., Bare, B., Hinkle, J. L., & Cheever, K. H. (2007). *Brunner and Suddarth's textbook of medical-surgical nursing* (11th ed.). Baltimore, MD: Lippincott, Williams & Wilkins.
- Stephens, R. (1992). Imagery: A treatment for nursing student anxiety. *Journal of Nursing Education*, 31(7), 314-320.
- Tasanapradit, Q. D. P. (2008). Depression and stress among the first-year medical students in University of Medicine and Pharmacy, Hochiminh City, Vietnam. *Journal of Health Research*, 22(Suppl.), 1-4.
- Tsai, S., & Crockett, M. S. (1993). Effects of relaxation training: Combining imagery and meditation on the stress level of Chinese nurses working in modern hospitals in Taiwan. *Issues in Mental Health Nursing*, 14, 51-66.

- Tveito, T. H., & Eriksen, H. R. (2009). Integrated health program: A workplace randomized controlled trial. *Journal of Advanced Nursing*, 65(1), 110-119.
- Watson, R., Gardiner, E., Hogston, R., Stimpson, A., Wrate, R., & Deary, I. (2009). A longitudinal study of stress and psychological distress in nurses and nursing students. *Journal of Clinical Nursing*, 18(2), 270-278.
- Welker-Hood, K. (2006). Does workplace stress lead to accident or error? *American Journal of Nursing*, 106(9), 104.
- Young, L. E., Bruce, A., & Turner, L. (2001). Evaluation of a mindfulness-based stress reduction intervention. *Canadian Nurse*, 97(6), 23-26.

# **CHAPTER 2**

# LITERATURE REVIEW

Stress, a common occurrence in daily living for the majority of people, has been defined as "a condition in which the person experiences changes in the normal, balanced state" (Berman, Snyder, Kozier, & Erb, 2008, p. 1061), identified as homeostasis. Psychological or emotional homeostasis is referred to as mental well-being. Psychological homeostasis is maintained through feelings of love, security, self-esteem, and positive interactions with others (Berman et al.). An alteration in the physiological or psychological environment perceived as a threat is termed stress. The change in homeostasis from stress leads to what has been identified as a stress response (Berman et al.; Sapolsky, 2004; Smeltzer, Bare, Hinkle, & Cheever, 2007) and initiates physiological changes in the body described as the fight or flight response. Interestingly, psychological disruptions have the capacity to elicit the same response in the body as a physical stressor (Sapolsky). An example of a psychological change affecting homeostasis would be the individual receiving news of a job loss. Thoughts of fear or anger may arise that in turn begin the physiological responses of the fight or flight reaction. The response to regain homeostasis can be more difficult to control unless the individual is able to manage thought processes. "The stress response can become more damaging than the stressor itself, especially when the stress is purely psychological" (Sapolsky, p. 13).

Stress can lead to negative emotional states that "are thought to be associated with unhealthy patterns of psychological functioning" (Salovey, Rothman, Detweiler, &

Steward, 2000, p. 110) and has been suggested as a contributing factor in physical ailments, emotional and mental disturbances, and altered social interactions (Berman et al., 2008; Pelletier, 2000; Smeltzer et al., 2007). These changes can lead to declines in overall feelings of well-being. Health-care professions are vulnerable to stress and the related conditions from high demands in caring for others with limited time, personnel, and increased acuity. Anxiety, exhaustion, depression, and decreases in immune function are some of the documented results of stress in this population (Beck & Srivastava, 1991; Cohen-Katz, Wiley, Capuano, Baker, & Shapiro, 2004; Fukuda, Ichinose, Kusama, Anndow, & Akiyoshi, 2008; Geiger-Brown, Muntaner, & Trinkoff, 2004; McVicar, 2003; Peterson et al., 2008; Salovey et al.; Tveito & Eriksen, 2009; Watson et al., 2009).

The educational process itself can be a source of stress as individuals proceed through multiple levels of learning. Life events as well as academic pressures contribute to stress, affecting the emotional well-being of students. A report by the American College Health Association (2008) identified 50% of students reporting higher than usual to tremendous stress affecting academic performance. Jones and Johnston (1997) found higher stress levels in nursing students than in other college students across the 4-year program of study. Higher stress levels have implications for students in nursing programs that will last 2 to 4 years since stress longer than 6 months is termed *chronic stress*, putting the nursing student population at higher risk for anxiety and depressive symptoms (Finlay-Jones & Brown, 1981; Kessler, 1997; Paykel et al., 1969).

Skills are an important part of the health-care learning environment, with competency at an acceptable level expected prior to performing in the clinical setting.

Learning and performance are enhanced with increased feelings of self-efficacy (Bandura, 1977, 2001). Unfortunately, self-efficacy is eroded with stress and anxiety that can impede learning and performance. Studies examining the effects of stress on learning

have documented decreased retention of material and limited recall that have implications for professions depending on skill proficiency in the workplace (Anderson et al., 2004; Beddoe & Murphy, 2004; Hains et al., 2009; Locken & Norberg, 2005; McVicar, 2003; Moscaritolo, 2009; Palumbo et al., 2007; Tanaka, Takehara, & Yamaguichi, 2006). Limited studies document the effects of stress on self-efficacy in this population and the connection among stress, learning, and self-efficacy.

Addressing stress to limit negative effects is an important aspect to improve learning, skills performance, and feelings of well-being. An examination of methods utilized for stress reduction in health-care professionals, nurses, and student nurses includes cognitive therapy, mindfulness training, cognitive-behavioral therapy with relaxation, and mindfulness-based stress reduction. Mindfulness and mindfulness-based stress reduction have become more prevalent in recent years with the introduction of a mindfulness-based stress reduction program in a university setting (University of Massachusetts Worcester Campus Center for Mindfulness, n.d.). Studies linking mindfulness and wellness have documented benefits with regular practice (Allen, Blashki, & Gullone, 2006; Astin, 1997; Baer, 2003; Brown & Ryan, 2003; Brown, Ryan, & Creswell, 2007; Grossman, Nieman, Schmidt, & Walach, 2004; Kabat-Zinn, 2003; Poulin, Mackenzie, Soloway, & Karayolas, 2008; Shapiro, Oman, Thoresen, Plante, & Flinders, 2008).

With origins in Eastern philosophy and meditation practices, mindfulness assists individuals to focus attention on them and their immediate surroundings. Mindfulness is also believed to contribute to memory recall, self-actualization, and healthy living (Hirst, 2003). In addition, mindfulness is easily adopted, increases attentiveness, and decreases stress (Allen et al., 2006; Brown & Ryan, 2003). The incorporation of mindfulness into a program identified as reducing stress holds promise for those impacted by increasing

stress levels.

# Stress and Response

Stress and the accompanying response involve the whole body, which has the potential to create more damage than the actual stressor. Sapolsky (2004) discussed the negative effects of stress on hormone production, cardiovascular health, metabolic and gastrointestinal changes, immunity, pain, sleep, memory, and aging. The stress response elicits release of energy in the form of glucose, simple proteins, and fats. Heart rate, respirations, and blood pressure increase to deliver energy sources throughout the body, but minor systems such as digestion, growth, tissue repair, and reproduction slow down. A negative effect of continued exposure to the stress response is suppression of the immune system and increased risk of disease (Beck & Srivastava, 1991; Nelson, Lust, Stiry, & Ehlinger, 2008; Smeltzer et al., 2007). A review of literature by Salovey et al. (2000) demonstrated a decrease in immunity, mood, and feelings of health with an increase in respiratory illness from stress across a variety of populations.

Research has demonstrated a link among stress, disease, mental health, and decreased feelings of wellness (Geiger-Brown et al., 2004; Näslindh-Ylipanagar, Sihvonen, Sarna, & Kekki, 2008; Nelson et al., 2008; Smeltzer et al., 2007). Näslindh-Ylipanagar et al. found increased health complaints among men with higher levels of stress and anxiety. These men also suffered from insomnia and feelings of depression. Nelson et al. demonstrated an association between stress and adverse health changes among college students. Stressors faced during the educational experience contribute to higher levels of physical and psychological health complaints as measured by self-report measures and immune system measures (American College Health Association, 2008; Tasanapradit, 2008; Whitehouse et al., 1996). An increased risk of physical or

psychological illness, as measured by the General Health Questionnaire, was found among nursing students with the highest stress levels (Beck & Srivastava, 1991). Watson et al. (2009) concluded that life events and stress "contributed significantly to psychological distress" (p. 270) in nursing students and new nurses, which may lead to higher levels of work-related illnesses and attrition. Psychological distress that is not addressed can lead to depression and decreased involvement in life experiences (Anisman & Zacharko, 1982; Kessler, 1997; Paykel, 1978; Paykel et al., 1969).

# Stress and Learning

Learning and academic performance are also negatively affected by increased stress (Beddoe & Murphy, 2004; Evans & Kelly, 2004; Locken & Norberg, 2005; Meisenhelder, 1987; Moscaritolo, 2009), which has implications in the health-care learning environment. Hormones released during the stress response contribute to memory impairment, disruption in learning, and depression (Sapolsky, 2004). Studies have shown physical and chemical changes in the area of the brain associated with learning and memory in both mice and humans exposed to stress that decrease memory recall and learning (Anderson et al., 2004; Burriss, Ayers, Ginsberg, & Powell, 2008; Hains et al., 2009; Palumbo et al., 2007). Another study identified higher levels of depression, anxiety, and memory impairment in health-care workers with greater work-related stress that contributed to disengagement, exhaustion, and burnout (Peterson et al., 2008).

Health-care employees, specifically nurses, face multiple stressors that include limited personnel to manage patient care, long hours with fluctuating shifts, acute needs of patients, and managing the unexpected. Tvieto and Eriksen (2009) found that most of the sick leave in Norway was for health-care workers. Stress can build in individuals,

leading to exhaustion, psychological distress, burnout, and exodus from the stressor that, in the case of nurses, is the job (Watson et al., 2009). An examination of nurses and nursing students by Watson et al. found high levels of stress, as measured by a brief life events inventory and a work-stress inventory. The General Health Questionnaire provided information for psychological health related to anxiety, insomnia, social dysfunction, and depression. Results indicated that increased stress levels contributed to higher scores on somatic symptoms, including depression. McVicar (2003) identified increased levels of stress in the nursing profession leading to emotional exhaustion. The health-care environment is also facing a shortage of nurses from multiple factors that include stress (American Association of Colleges of Nursing, 2008; Buerhaus et al., 2007).

Stress begins early in the nursing career as a nursing student. Jones and Johnston (2000) found higher levels of stress in 1st-year nursing students when compared with medical students or the general female population, which "may carry a risk to the affective well-being of the student" (p. 481). Moscaritolo (2009) stated, "When students cannot manage stress, the normal line of defense is broken and anxiety results" (p. 19). The physical and mental health of nursing students is at risk with continued exposure to stress-producing situations. Beck and Srivastava (1991) found stress levels to be consistently high for all levels of nursing education, with the presence of psychiatric symptoms higher than the general population. Feelings of frustration, discouragement, and inadequacy were voiced by students, with greater than 50% of them reporting increased stress levels with their choice of nursing as a career.

# Stress and Self-Efficacy

Negative emotions and the cycle of frustration, stress, and decreased learning contribute to the erosion of confidence to produce positive outcomes. This loss of

confidence affects the self-efficacy of students, decreasing the desire to continue trying and further increasing vulnerability to anxiety (Bandura, 1997). Bandura (1989) stated, "It requires a strong sense of efficacy to remain task oriented in the face of . . . failures" (p. 1176). Self-efficacy is a personal belief or confidence in the ability to produce an outcome. Bandura (1997) believed self-efficacy to be central to choice of actions by individuals, stating, "If people believe they have no power to produce results, they will not attempt to make things happen" (p. 3). Students want to succeed and feel satisfaction with their educational goals, which decreases when self-efficacy is diminished.

The concept of self-efficacy as an aspect of behavioral change was first addressed by Bandura (1977) and has continued to evolve. Bandura (1997) believed that many factors contribute to an individual's ability to function within society but also believed that self-efficacy is foundational. He stated, "Beliefs of personal efficacy constitute the key factor of human agency" (p. 3). As a foundation, self-efficacy guides actions for desired outcomes even in the face of adverse conditions or situations. Self-efficacy beliefs are derived from the following four sources: (a) mastery experience, (b) vicarious experience, (c) verbal persuasion, and (d) physiological status (Bandura, 1997).

Mastery experience is believed to be the most influential component of self-efficacy by providing genuine evidence of perseverance to succeed. Throughout life, individuals face multiple experiences that require a certain level of performance. Simple things such as an infant learning to sit unassisted, hold items, or walk provide opportunities for achievement. Positive experiences give impetus to continue trying whereas negative outcomes reduce the belief in self and the possibility for achievement. "After people become convinced that they have what it takes to succeed, they persevere in the face of adversity and quickly rebound from setbacks" (Bandura, 1997, p. 80).

Factors such as previous successes or failures, level of difficulty, or amount of

effort an individual is willing to put forth contribute to the building of self-efficacy through experiences. Learning new skills, performance requirements, limited practice time, and the need to transfer theory knowledge to the clinical situation create stress in the nursing student. Success in achieving goals will increase feelings of efficacy in the student, but students often believe there is a gap in knowledge needed that leads to decreased feelings of success (Beck & Srivastava, 1991; Evans & Kelly, 2004; Jones & Johnston, 1997).

Vicarious experiences, another source of acquiring self-efficacy, are provided through observation. Referred to as modeling (Bandura, 1997), individuals observe the actions of others that succeed or fail in a variety of activities. These observations provide a guide from which to determine personal capabilities. Bandura observed that "the greater the assumed similarity, the more persuasive are the models' successes and failures" (p. 87). Because an individual's environment is not static, multiple opportunities for the observation of modeling occur on a regular basis, which can increase self-efficacy. Modeling others is not the only method available; self-modeling is also effective for increasing efficacy. "Seeing oneself perform successfully can enhance proficiency in at least two ways: it provides clear information on how to best perform skills, and it strengthens beliefs in one's capabilities" (Bandura, p. 94). For the nursing student, multiple opportunities to self-model exist, but this follows the observance of instructors and the nurse's performance. The student then attempts to achieve the skill level of the seasoned professional and finds the performance to fall below the observed skill. This belief of diminished performance can contribute to decreased feelings of self-efficacy.

A third method of increasing individual self-efficacy is through verbal persuasion. Individuals encouraged by other individuals of importance to them can increase feelings of efficacy if the encouragement is realistic. During the performance of skills or tasks,

positive feedback on the ability of an individual to succeed can enhance the feelings of efficacy while increasing efforts and competence. "Perceived self-efficacy contributes to performance accomplishments over and above the effects of skill development" (Bandura, 1997, p. 102). It is important to note that false praise or encouragement can actually have a negative effect on self-efficacy. Whereas verbal persuasion is useful in building self-efficacy, Bandura noted that "it is more difficult to instill enduringly high beliefs of personal efficacy" (p. 104) through verbal persuasion than it is to decrease feelings of efficacy. Instructors and nurses acting as mentors will give encouragement and praise to the nursing student, but students do not always believe that the encouragement is realistic. There are occasions when those over the student are stern and give little or no praise, which decreases feelings of adequacy and self-efficacy.

The last method of increasing self-efficacy examines an individual's physical and mental state. In a balanced state, physiological indicators such as pulse and respiration are within individual average parameters, but when faced with a situation requiring new or stressful skills performance, these indicators increase in rate. An individual with lower feelings of self-efficacy and the stressful physiological response may "generate further stress through anticipatory self-arousal" (Bandura, 1997, p. 106). This response can lead to even greater distress and further declines in beliefs of ability. Change in physical status can be attributed to other conditions and individual differences in response, but it is important to note as it may affect feelings of efficacy. As noted earlier, the mental state or thoughts of an individual can affect the physiological state, and it can also contribute to increasing or decreasing self-efficacy. An individual with positive memories and emotions from prior experiences is more likely to attempt a new skill than one with negative memories and emotions. The same can be said of an individual's psychological

state, with positive moods increasing and negative moods decreasing efficacy (Bandura). College students and nursing students list decreased time and increased stress as a contributor to a decline in health status, which may affect feelings of efficacy (Beck & Srivastava, 1991; Billingsley, Collins, & Miller, 2007; Evans & Kelly, 2004; Nelson et al., 2008).

Each of these methods contributes to an individual's feelings of self-efficacy at various stages of life, with occurrences or events, social situations, and a variety of environments. Bandura (1989) believed that people's beliefs about abilities were central to the choice of action to achieve a desired outcome, stating: "People devise ways of adapting flexibly to remarkably diverse geographic, climatic, and social environments . . . to realize desired outcomes" (Bandura, 2001, p. 22). College is a time in life in which choices made can affect outcomes on an individual's life for an extended period of time. During this time, a career choice is made with the decision to apply oneself to learning. Students with increased self-efficacy have been shown to achieve better outcomes (Bandura, 1997). This point is significant to consider when examining the loss of confidence with feelings of inadequacy experienced by nursing students early in the educational process (Beck & Srivastava, 1991; Billingsley et al., 2007; Evans & Kelly, 2004; Jones & Johnston, 2000).

Self-efficacy has been compared with self-esteem, but it is important to note that self-efficacy and self-esteem are not the same. *Self-efficacy* is a belief in personal capabilities, and *self-esteem* is a judgment of self-worth (Bandura, 1997; Lawrance & McLeroy, 1986). The daily tasks of nurses and student nurses involve the performance of skills and confident decision making in the care of others. A strong sense of self-efficacy is needed for confidence and should be developed during training (Dory & Beaulieu, 2009). Education, training, and practice will improve confidence of an individual moving

through the role of a student to that of an employee. Golbasi, Kelleci, and Dogan (2008) found a strong correlation to job satisfaction and self-confidence, which has implications for the nursing workforce and students entering the profession.

#### **Nursing Student Stressors**

Students across all levels of nursing education frequently list as a stressor the gap between theory and practice when entering the clinical area (Beddoe & Murphy, 2004; Billingsley et al., 2007; Evans & Kelly, 2004; Moscaritolo, 2009), which contributes to doubts with regard to the choice to pursue nursing education. The nursing student enters the clinical facility armed with classroom knowledge and skills practiced on mannequins but quickly learns that more knowledge and practice are needed. This knowledge contributes to the stress of establishing a satisfactory learning relationship with the assigned staff nurse, which is another area of concern listed by students (Levett-Jones, Lathlean, Higgins, & McMillan, 2009). Other areas listed as stressors for students include fear of failure or mistakes, questioning one's ability to perform or complete tasks, rapidly changing circumstances, finances, lack of personal time, and lack of timely feedback from instructors (Billingsley et al.; Jones & Johnston, 1997, 2000; Levett-Jones et al.; Locken & Norberg, 2005; Moscaritolo; Stephens, 1992; Watson et al., 2009). Another concern is the negative effect of stress and anxiety on learning and performance of nursing students. Hughes (2005) stated, "Stress contributes to anxiety, which can in turn interfere with students' academic performance" (p. 22). Skills and task performance at an acceptable level for patient care are required prior to and during clinical situations. It has been demonstrated that nursing students experiencing stress have impaired learning as well as impaired performance (Beddoe & Murphy; Locken & Norberg; Stephens). Being

impaired creates a cycle of frustration, increasing stress, and further declines in learning capabilities. Evans and Kelly found that 45% of the nursing student population studied had a decrease in self-image and 54% expressed a loss of confidence. A concern for the student nurse population is the risk for depression from decreased self-image and loss of confidence (Kendler, Hettema, Butera, Gardner, & Prescott, 2003).

#### Stress, Self-Efficacy, and Interventions

Acknowledging and addressing stress early in the nursing profession while providing methods for management will contribute to increased job satisfaction. The relationship among stress, learning, academic performance, and self-efficacy should be addressed in the beginning of nursing education to give students tools to use throughout the following years and into the working environment. Interventions that have demonstrated positive effects on decreasing stress, anxiety, and health-related complaints and increasing coping include cognitive therapy (Brunero, Cowan, & Fairbrother, 2008), mindfulness training (Cohen-Katz et al., 2005; Mackenzie, Poulin, & Seidman-Carlson, 2006; Moscaritolo, 2009), and cognitive-behavioral training with relaxation (Jones & Johnston, 2000; Norvell, Belles, Brody, & Freund, 1987; Yung, Fung, Chan, & Lau, 2004). An examination of the effectiveness of each method demonstrated a combination of cognitive-behavioral training and relaxation to be the most effective in reducing stress (Marine, Routsalainen, Serra, & Verbeek, 2009). Yung et al. were able to account for 53% of the changes in the participants' scores to be attributable to the relaxation intervention. A 1-day stress management program using cognitive-behavioral training decreased stress and improved nurses' mental attitude at work (Brunero et al.). The program consisted of one 8-hour workshop and self-directed learning to reinforce the intervention.

#### Mindfulness

A method that has demonstrated positive outcomes on physical and mental health is mindfulness or mindfulness meditation. *Mindfulness* is identified as paying attention on purpose to the current situation or present moment (Allen et al., 2006; Bhikkhu, 1997; Brown & Ryan, 2003; Brown et al., 2007; Gunaratana, 1990; Kabat-Zinn, 1994; Moore, 2008) and is cultivated by following the breath as it moves in and out. Attention and awareness are considered a part of everyday existence, but mindfulness can assist individuals to decrease the amount of automatic thoughts, reactions, and behaviors that occur throughout each day. "Because mindfulness permits an immediacy of direct contact with events as they occur, . . . consciousness takes on a clarity and freshness that permits more flexible . . . responses" (Brown et al., p. 212). Gunaratana explained, "Mindfulness is mirror-thought. It reflects only what is presently happening and in exactly the way it is happening. There are no biases" (p. 83).

Mindfulness has been shown to increase positive feelings and "enduring shifts in the processing of negative emotion under stress" (Kabat-Zinn, 2003, p. 147). In a study of young adults in a community setting, McKee, Zvolensky, Solomon, Bernstein, and Leen-Feldner (2007) found higher anxiety scores with lower mindfulness scores; they also found those with lower anxiety scores had higher mindfulness scores, indicating positive outcomes with mindfulness. These findings indicate that mindfulness can help an individual gain control of his or her thoughts, which can lead to increasing stress. An examination of mindfulness by Brown and Ryan (2003) found those practicing mindfulness reported more feelings of well-being and positive emotional states, with a decrease in tension, anxiety, depression, fatigue, and stress. An inverse relationship was also found with depression (as measured with the Center for Epidemiologic Studies Depression Scale and Beck Depression Inventory), anxiety (as measured with the State-

Trait Anxiety Inventory and Profile of Moods States), and physical health (as measured with a subjective and objective self-report). Grossman et al. (2004) found that "improvements were consistently seen across a spectrum of standardized mental health measures including psychological dimensions of quality of life scales, depression, anxiety, coping style, and other affective dimensions of disability" (p. 40).

Throughout the course of a day, there are constant events around each individual. The changes in scenery, weather, conversations, and even thoughts occur on a regular basis without much notice until a nonroutine occurrence brings attention to the individual. This inattention is termed *mindlessness*, which "is linked to all those habitual behaviors performed without attention" (Hirst, 2003, p. 362). Mindfulness training assists individuals in paying attention to circumstances as they occur, to develop a clear awareness of each moment. Mindfulness is "often associated with the formal practice of mindfulness meditation. Mindfulness, however, is more than meditation" (Shapiro, Carlson, Astin, & Freedman, 2006, p. 374); it is awareness. Becoming aware of thoughts, reactions, and emotions allows individuals to consciously pay attention to each moment of each experience with greater comprehension, which often results in a shift of perspective. Focusing attention during a task can decrease preoccupation with other thoughts, assisting in the successful completion of the task, and can guide to more effective goal attainment (Brown et al., 2007). When a stressful situation arises, mindfulness provides a method to see circumstances as they really are without overriding emotional attachments, leading to a more calm approach for the situation (Gunaratana, 1990). This adaptation was demonstrated in a study by Arch and Craske (2006) using a brief, focused breathing exercise adapted from a mindfulness course with college students prior to viewing negative or aversive picture slides. Students utilizing focused breathing reported lower negative emotional responses than the control group.

The positive effects of mindfulness indicate that it is an intervention with potential for individuals faced with chronic stress such as nurses and nursing students. The use of mindfulness interventions demonstrated a decrease in habitual thought, increased attention and awareness, and decreased overall stress in a psychiatric nursing practice (O'Haver-Day & Horton-Deutsh, 2004), which has implications for increasing attention and learning in nursing students. Ott (2004) found mindfulness meditation to decrease stress and contribute to a feeling of inner calmness with both formal and informal practice. A 1-month study comparing relaxation and mindfulness meditation in a group of medical and nursing students found the following: "Comparison of effect sizes indicates that mindfulness and relaxation are similar with respect to reducing distress; however, mindfulness appears to be more effective in enhancing positive states of mind" (Jain et al., 2007, p. 20). In a review of mindfulness-based studies, Brown et al. (2007) found that "empirical research to date supports the role of mindfulness in well-being" (p. 220), with a reduction in stress symptoms, better task performance, more effective goal attainment, and greater optimism.

A study conducted with nurses and human services professionals demonstrated "that mindfulness-based interventions offer a unique opportunity for participants to reduce the effects of stress in their lives and improve their well-being" (Poulin et al., 2008, p. 78). This point is important to consider, with increasing stress levels resulting in decreased performance, more use of sick leave, and employees choosing to leave the job. Interventions that can contribute to decreasing attrition while improving personal health should be examined. A randomized controlled study by Shapiro et al. (2008) with undergraduate college students demonstrated a decrease in stress with mindfulness practice and increased well-being. An interesting note from the study is the low dropout rate of only 3 from the 47 participants at the 2-month follow-up. This finding suggests

that the intervention was beneficial enough for participants to continue the practice. When utilized by nursing students, mindfulness has been able to decrease stress and anxiety while increasing empathy and learning (Beddoe & Murphy, 2004; Billingsley et al., 2007; Moscaritolo, 2009).

#### Mindfulness-Based Stress Reduction

Another method that has demonstrated positive outcomes is mindfulness-based stress reduction. A comparative study examining the use of cognitive-behavioral stress reduction and mindfulness-based stress reduction found that participants in the mindfulness-based stress reduction group had better outcomes on all measures (Smith et al., 2008). Mindfulness-based stress reduction is a program incorporating mindfulness meditation, yoga, discussions, instruction, and daily practice. The program was introduced in 1979 at the University of Massachusetts to assist individuals in dealing with stress, pain, and illness (University of Massachusetts Worcester Campus Center for Mindfulness, n.d.). The basic program consists of once weekly meetings for 8 weeks in 2to 2.5-hour sessions, with 1 week including an all-day session. Participants are expected to practice at least 6 days during the week for 45 minutes outside of the classroom (Astin, 1997; Beddoe & Murphy, 2004; Brown & Ryan, 2003). The program has been revised and adapted for a variety of situations, but the mindfulness component remains the same. Early studies following introduction of the program demonstrated positive effects on individuals in reducing symptoms from a variety of medical conditions such as cancer and heart disease and in decreasing pain and stress (Kabat-Zinn, 1992). A review of literature by Baer (2003) found mindfulness-based stress reduction to be effective in relieving pain, alleviating anxiety and depression, reducing symptoms in individuals with fibromyalgia or psoriasis, and achieving significant reductions in depression with cancer

patients. A calculation of effect sizes "suggests that mindfulness-based interventions have yielded at least medium-sized effects, with some effect sizes falling within the large range" (p. 135). Baer stated, "Although the current empirical literature includes many methodological flaws, findings suggest that mindfulness-based interventions may be helpful in the treatment of several disorders" (p. 125). Later studies have verified the association among mindfulness, a decrease in psychological distress, and reported medical symptoms with increased feelings of wellness (Koerbel & Zucker, 2007; Matchim, Armer, & Stewart, 2008; Nyklícek & Kuijpers, 2008; Shapiro et al., 2008).

Although positive results with chronic conditions indicate the usefulness of mindfulness-based stress reduction as part of the treatment regimen, a review of five research articles by Koerbel and Zucker (2007) found weaknesses with small sample sizes and high attrition. "Attrition rates of the studies may reflect the fact that MBSR [mindfulness-based stress reduction] is not a program that appeals to everyone" (Koerbel & Zucker, p. 273). The program requires a commitment of time, willingness to be attentive, and dedication to continue the practice. Education with regard to the involvement and examination of methods utilizing shorter time frames while maintaining consistency prior to initiation into a program may assist in decreasing attrition rates. Despite weaknesses in the studies, "MBSR [mindfulness-based stress reduction] . . . continues to provide researchers with a body of knowledge that makes it a legitimate health behavior intervention" (Koerbel & Zucker, p. 274).

The use of mindfulness-based stress reduction has been found to be useful in decreasing stress and anxiety, inducing relaxation, and improving quality of life for participants (Astin, 1997; Baer, 2003; Beddoe & Murphy, 2004; Carmody & Baer, 2008; Carmody, Reed, Kristeller, & Merriam, 2008; Poulin et al., 2008; Young, Bruce, & Turner, 2001). Participants in a qualitative study examining the usefulness of

mindfulness-based stress reduction for the treatment of depression described the use of breathing techniques as beneficial during stressful situations. Practice logs demonstrated a link between the amount of practice documented during the week and the amount of positive change present (Mason & Hargreaves, 2001). A randomized study of cancer patients using an abbreviated form of mindfulness-based stress reduction provided "evidence that a relatively brief mindfulness meditation-based stress reduction program can effectively reduce mood disturbance, fatigue, and a broad spectrum of stress-related symptoms in cancer patients" (Speca, Carlson, Goodey, & Angen, 2000, p. 619). Obtaining positive results with shorter sessions is encouraging for those investigating the use of a mindfulness-based stress reduction program but are deterred by time requirements. The utilization of shorter sessions also has implications for retention when conducting interventions with a variety of individuals. Regardless of the time involved in learning the practice itself, it is believed that anyone undertaking mindfulness-based stress reduction should be committed to the development of mindfulness on a regular basis. Kabat-Zinn (2003) stated, "It takes a personal commitment and perseverance in formal practice gradually to establish a degree of stability in one's capacity to attend, especially to stressful or aversive objects, including emotional turbulence" (p. 150). Brown and Ryan (2003), in a study of mindfulness-based stress reduction with 58 cancer patients (90-minute sessions once a week and a one-time longer session for 2 to 3 hours), were also able to produce positive results with shorter sessions. The results indicated that participants were able to achieve mindfulness in the shorter time frame, and those with higher mindfulness scores had lower levels of distress, tension, and mood disturbances. Results of early studies with mindfulness-based stress reduction found a more rapid clearing of psoriasis in those practicing mindfulness than in those not practicing an improved immune function and a decrease in a prostate cancer indicator (Kabat-Zinn).

It is believed that the process of mindfulness induces relaxation, which may contribute to positive effects in a variety of settings (Baer, 2003). The effects of relaxation have been termed the relaxation response that "results in generalized decreased sympathetic nervous system activity" (Beary & Benson, 1974, p. 118; Wallace, Benson, & Wilson, 1971). This response results in a decreased respiratory rate, oxygen consumption, and muscle tone. This response could also be of benefit for individuals suffering with stress and related symptoms. Shapiro, Schwartz, and Bonner (1998) were able to decrease stress in medical and premedical students with the introduction of mindfulness-based stress reduction, and a group of health-care professionals were able to decrease stress and demonstrate greater self-compassion with the use of mindfulnessbased stress reduction (Shapiro, Astin, Bishop, & Cordova, 2005). Stress has also been indicated as a causative factor in heart disease. Robert-McComb, Tacon, Randolph, and Caldera (2004) demonstrated a decrease in breathing patterns and cortisol levels with individuals practicing mindfulness-based stress reduction when compared with the control group. A meta-analysis of 10 studies demonstrated that "although derived from a relatively small number of studies, these results suggest that MBSR [mindfulness-based stress reduction] may help a broad range of individuals to cope with their clinical and nonclinical problems" (Grossman et al., 2004, p. 35).

## Mindfulness-Based Stress Reduction and Nursing Students

Young et al. (2001) examined the use of the traditional 8-week session of mindfulness-based stress reduction with 30, 3rd-year nursing students by employing a quasi-experimental pretest and posttest design. Both the control group and the intervention group completed the Health Status Profile scale, with only 15 students in the

intervention group attending the mindfulness-based stress reduction sessions. The scale was completed by both groups at the conclusion of an 8-week training session. Despite the small sample size, "The MBSR [mindfulness-based stress reduction] intervention produced small to moderate effect sizes for health-related effects, sense of coherence, and physical symptoms. Psychological symptoms had by far the greatest decrease" (pp. 25-26). During focus group discussions, at which time the focus group leaders were able to gain information with regard to the student's perception of the program and satisfaction with the intervention, qualitative findings were obtained from students in the intervention group. Students found the intervention to be of benefit in achieving balance in their lives and recommended the course be incorporated into the nursing curriculum.

As discussed previously, nursing students face many stressors throughout their training. Stress not only affects learning, self-efficacy, and achievement but it can also affect the responses of students to individuals assigned to their care while in training. Moscaritolo (2009) conducted a literature review examining a variety of methods to improve the learning environment for nursing students, concluding, "The literature indicates that mindfulness training is an effective interventional strategy to decrease anxiety among undergraduate nursing students" (p. 22).

A group of baccalaureate nursing students (N = 16) introduced to an 8-week session of mindfulness-based stress reduction in a nonexperimental design with a no-comparison group were able to decrease anxiety and stress levels, as measured by the Derogatis Stress Profile. They showed no statistically significant changes in empathy scores, as measured by the Interpersonal Reactivity Index (Beddoe & Murphy, 2004). Beddoe and Murphy believed the limited change in empathy scores was due to the profession attracting those with greater empathy; thus, pretest empathy scores were already elevated. Even with higher pretest empathy scores, a decrease in anxiety and

stress will have long-term benefits for empathy by allowing student nurses or nurses to focus on the individual in their care rather than on personal distress.

Of interest is that none of these studies with nursing students measured actual changes in mindfulness awareness and increased self-efficacy, which are hypothesized mediators of the reductions in stress and anxiety or the nursing students' improvements in clinical skills if they have a brief mindfulness intervention.

The ability to decrease anxiety and stress in the nursing profession should also contribute to retention in the workplace. The continued exposure to stress, anxiety, and feelings of inadequacy and the resulting physiological and psychological responses lead to exhaustion and eventual burnout. The use of mindfulness-based stress reduction can decrease these symptoms and improve personal and professional outcomes (Cohen-Katz et al., 2005; Mackenzie et al., 2006).

#### Summary

Stress is an inevitable part of life and is encountered on a regular basis throughout a normal day. Something as simple as finding shoes or deciding what to have for a meal can create stress. Stress can occur from both positive and negative influences. Some stress enhances an individual's alertness, assisting in learning and the completion of tasks (Berman et al., 2008; Smeltzer et al., 2007). Concern arises with continued exposure to stress and the accompanying responses that disrupt the balance of an individual physically, psychologically, and emotionally. A brief description of these effects has been demonstrated in this literature review.

This literature review explored the connection among stress, learning, selfefficacy, and mindfulness-based stress reduction. Positive outcomes included increased attentiveness and positive attitudes and decreased psychological and physical symptoms of stress. This intervention can address the needs of those in the health-care learning environment, specifically student nurses. Providing tools for this population will contribute to job satisfaction and retention for the profession. With projected shortages of nurses to work in health care, methods to maintain nurses are important.

To date, studies have focused on the traditional 8-week course, but few have examined the effects of decreased training time. No recorded studies exist that examine the effects on self-efficacy with a reduction in stress on student nurses and learning. The current study addressed the links among stress, learning, self-efficacy mitigation, and risk for depression with an abbreviated version of the mindfulness-based stress reduction intervention program among undergraduate nursing students.

#### References

- Allen, N. B., Blashki, G., & Gullone, E. (2006). Mindfulness-based psychotherapies: A review of conceptual foundations, empirical evidence, and practical considerations. *Australian and New Zealand Journal of Psychiatry*, 40, 285-294.
- American Association of Colleges of Nursing. (2008, September 29). *Nursing shortage fact sheet*. Retrieved March 6, 2009, from http://www.aacn.nche.edu/Media/pdf/NrsgShortageFS.pdf
- American College Health Association. (2008). Retrieved June 12, 2009, from http://www.achancha.org/docs/ACHA-NCHA\_Reference\_Group \_ExecutiveSummary\_Fall2008.pdf
- Anderson, M. C., Ochsner, K. N., Kuhl, B., Cooper, J., Robertson, E., Gabrieli, S. W. et al. (2004). Neural systems underlying the suppression of unwanted memories. *Science*, 303, 232-235.
- Anisman, H., & Zacharko, R. (1982). Depression: The predisposing influence of stress. *Behavioral and Brain Science*, *5*(1), 89-137.
- Arch, J. J., & Craske, M. G. (2006). Mechanisms of mindfulness: Emotion regulation following a focused breathing induction. *Behavior Research and Therapy*, 44(12), 1849-1858.

- Astin, J. A. (1997). Stress reduction through mindfulness meditation. *Psychotherapy and Psychosomatics*, *66*, 97-106.
- Baer, R. A. (2003). Mindfulness training as a clinical intervention: A conceptual and empirical review. *Clinical Psychology: Science and Practice*, 10(2), 125-143.
- Bandura, A. (1977). Self-efficacy: Toward a unifying theory of behavioral change. *Psychological Review*, 84, 191-215.
- Bandura, A. (1989). Human agency in social cognitive theory. *American Psychologist*, 44(9), 1175-1184.
- Bandura, A. (1997). *Self-efficacy: The exercise of control*. New York: W. H. Freeman and Company.
- Bandura, A. (2001). Social cognitive theory: An agentive perspective. *Annual Review of Psychology*, 52, 1-26.
- Beary, J. F., & Benson, H. (1974). A simple psychophysiological technique which elicits the hypometabolic changes of the relaxation response. *Psychosomatic Medicine*, *36*, 115-120.
- Beck, D., & Srivastava, R. (1991). Perceived level and sources of stress in baccalaureate nursing students. *Journal of Nursing Education*, *30*, 127-133.
- Beddoe, A. E., & Murphy, S. O. (2004). Does mindfulness decrease stress and foster empathy among nursing students? *Journal of Nursing Education*, 34(7), 305-312.
- Berman, A., Snyder, S. J., Kozier, B., & Erb, G. (2008). Fundamentals of nursing concepts, process, and practice (8th ed.). Upper Saddle River, NJ: Pearson Prentice Hall.
- Bhikkhu, B. (1997). *Mindfulness with breathing: A manual for serious beginners*. Boston: Wisdom Publications.
- Billingsley, S. K., Collins, A. M., & Miller, M. (2007). Student issues. Healthy student, healthy nurse: A stress management workshop. *Nurse Educator*, *32*(2), 49-51.
- Brown, K. W., & Ryan, R. M. (2003). The benefits of being present: Mindfulness and its role in psychological well-being. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 84, 822-848.

- Brown, K. W., Ryan, R. M., & Creswell, J. D. (2007). Mindfulness: Theoretical foundations and evidence for its salutary effects. *Psychological Inquiry*, *18*, 211-237.
- Brunero, S., Cowan, D., & Fairbrother, G. (2008). Reducing emotional distress in nurses using cognitive-behavioral therapy: A preliminary program evaluation. *Japan Journal of Nursing Science*, *5*(2), 109-115.
- Buerhaus, P. I., Donelan, K., Ulrich, B. T., Norman, L., DesRoches, C., & Dittus, R. (2007). Impact of the nurse shortage on hospital patient care: Comparative perspectives. *Health Affairs*, 26(3), 853-862.
- Burriss, L., Ayers, E., Ginsberg, J., & Powell, D. A. (2008). Learning and memory impairment in PTSD: Relationship to depression. *Depression and Anxiety*, 25, 149-157.
- Carmody, J., & Baer, R. A. (2008). Relationships between mindfulness practice and levels of mindfulness, medical and psychological symptoms and well-being in a mindfulness-based stress reduction program. *Journal of Behavioral Medicine*, *31*, 23-33.
- Carmody, J., Reed, G., Kristeller, J., & Merriam, P. (2008). Mindfulness, spirituality, and health-related symptoms. *Journal of Psychosomatic Research*, 64(4), 393-403.
- Cohen-Katz, J., Wiley, S. D., Capuano, T., Baker, D. M., Kimmel, S., & Shapiro, S. (2005). The effects of mindfulness-based stress reduction on nurse stress and burnout. Part 2: A quantitative and qualitative study. *Holistic Nursing Practice*, 19(1), 26-35.
- Cohen-Katz, J., Wiley, S. D., Capuano, T., Baker, D. M., & Shapiro, S. (2004). The effects of mindfulness-based stress reduction on nurse stress and burnout. *Holistic Nursing Practice*, 18(6), 302-308.
- Dory, V., & Beaulieu, M. D. (2009). The development of self-efficacy beliefs during general practice vocational training: An exploratory study. *Medical Teacher*, 31(1), 39-44.
- Evans, W., & Kelly, B. (2004). Preregistration diploma student nurse stress and coping measures. *Nurse Education Today*, 24, 473-482.
- Finlay-Jones, R., & Brown, G. W. (1981). Types of stressful life events and the onset of anxiety and depressive disorders. *Psychological Medicine*, *11*, 803-815.

- Fukuda, H., Ichinose, T., Kusama, T., Anndow, K., & Akiyoshi, N. (2008). Stress assessment in acute care department nurses by measuring interleukin-8. *International Nursing Review*, 55(4), 407-411.
- Geiger-Brown, J., Muntaner, J. L., & Trinkoff, A. (2004). Demanding work schedules and mental health in nursing assistants working in nursing homes. *Work & Stress*, 18(4), 292-304.
- Golbasi, Z., Kelleci, M., & Dogan, S. (2008). Relationships between coping strategies, individual characteristics, and job satisfaction in a sample of hospital nurses: Cross-sectional questionnaire survey. *International Journal of Nursing Studies*, 45(12), 1800-1806.
- Grossman, P., Nieman, L., Schmidt, S., & Walach, H. (2004). Mindfulness-based stress reduction and health benefits: A meta-analysis. *Journal of Psychosomatic Research*, *57*, 35-43.
- Gunaratana, H. (1990). *Mindfulness in plain English* [Electronic version]. Retrieved May 27, 2009, from http://www.urbandharma.org/pdf/mindfulness\_in\_plain \_english.pdf
- Hains, A. B., Vu, M. A. T., Maciejewski, P. K., van Dyck, C. H., Gottron, M., & Arnsten, A. F. T. (2009). Inhibition of protein kinase C signaling protects prefrontal cortex dendritic spines and cognition from the effects of chronic stress. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 106(42), 17957-17962.
- Hirst, I. S. (2003). Perspective of mindfulness. *Journal of Psychiatric and Mental Health Nursing*, 10, 359-366.
- Hughes, B. M. (2005). Study, examinations, and stress: Blood pressure assessments in college students. *Educational Review*, *57*(1), 21-36.
- Jain, S., Shapiro, S. L., Swanick, S., Roesch, S. C., Mills, P. J., Bell, I. et al. (2007). A randomized controlled trial of mindfulness meditation versus relaxation training: Effects on distress, positive states of mind, rumination, and distraction. *Annals of Behavioral Medicine*, 33(1), 11-21.
- Jones, M. C., & Johnston, D. W. (1997). Distress, stress, and coping in first-year student nurses. *Journal of Advanced Nursing*, 26(4), 475-482.
- Jones, M. C., & Johnston, D. W. (2000). Evaluating the impact of a worksite stress management program for distressed students: A randomized controlled trial. *Psychology and Health*, *15*, 689-706.

- Kabat-Zinn, J. (1992). Full catastrophe living: Using the wisdom of your body and mind to face stress, pain, and illness. New York: Dell Publishing.
- Kabat-Zinn, J. (1994). Wherever you go, there you are: Mindfulness meditation in everyday life. New York: Hyperion.
- Kabat-Zinn, J. (2003). Mindfulness-based interventions in context: Past, present, and future. *Clinical Psychology: Science and Practice*, *10*, 144-156.
- Kendler, K. S., Hettema, J. M., Butera, F., Gardner, C. O., & Prescott, C. A. (2003). Life event dimensions of loss, humiliation, entrapment, and danger in the prediction of major depression and generalized anxiety. *Archives of General Psychiatry*, 60, 789-796.
- Kessler, R. C. (1997). The effects of stressful life events on depression. *Annual Reviews of Psychology*, 48, 191-214.
- Koerbel, L. S., & Zucker, D. M. (2007). The suitability of mindfulness-based stress reduction for chronic hepatitis C. *Journal of Holistic Nursing*, 25(4), 265-277.
- Lawrance, L., & McLeroy, K. R. (1986). Self-efficacy and health education. *The Journal of School Health*, 56(8), 317-321.
- Levett-Jones, T., Lathlean, J., Higgins, I., & McMillan, M. (2009). Staff-student relationships and their impact on nursing students' belongingness and learning. *Journal of Advanced Nursing*, 65(2), 316-324.
- Locken, T., & Norberg, H. (2005). *Reduced anxiety improves learning ability of nursing students through utilization of mentoring triads*. Abstract retrieved June 3, 2009, from http://nursing.byu.edu/Documents/research/abstracts\_05-06/Locken,%20Norberg%20(2005)%20Reduced%20Anxiety%20Improves%20Le arning%20Ability%20of%20Nursing%20Students%20Through%20....pdf
- Mackenzie, C. S., Poulin, P. A., & Seidman-Carlson, R. (2006). A brief mindfulness-based stress reduction intervention for nurses. *Applied Nursing Research*, 19(2), 105-109.
- Marine, A., Routsalainen, J. H., Serra, C., & Verbeek, J. H. (2009). *Preventing occupational stress in health-care workers* [Electronic version]. Hoboken, NJ: John Wiley & Sons Ltd.
- Mason, O., & Hargreaves, I. (2001). A qualitative study of mindfulness-based cognitive therapy for depression. *British Journal of Medical Psychology*, 74, 197-212.

- Matchim, Y., Armer, J. M., & Stewart, B. R. (2008). IOS new scholar paper: A qualitative study of participants' perceptions of the effect of mindfulness medication practice on self-care and overall well-being. *Self-Care*, *Dependent-Care & Nursing*, 16(2), 46-53.
- McKee, L., Zvolensky, M. J., Solomon, S. E., Bernstein, A., & Leen-Feldner, E. (2007). Emotional-vulnerability and mindfulness: A preliminary test of associations among negative affectivity, anxiety sensitivity, and mindfulness skills. *Cognitive Behavioral Therapy*, 36(3), 91-101.
- McVicar, A. (2003). Workplace stress in nursing. *Journal of Advanced Nursing*, 44, 633-642.
- Meisenhelder, J. (1987). Anxiety: A block to clinical learning. *Nurse Educator*, 12(6), 27-30.
- Moore, P. (2008). Introducing mindfulness to clinical psychologists in training: An experiential course of brief exercises. *Journal of Clinical Psychology*, *15*(4), 331-337.
- Moscaritolo, L. M. (2009). Interventional strategies to decrease nursing student anxiety in the clinical learning environment. *Journal of Nursing Education*, 48(1), 17-23.
- Näslindh-Ylipanagar, A., Sihvonen, M., Sarna, S., & Kekki, P. (2008). Health status, symptoms, and health counseling among middle-aged men: Comparison of men at low and high risk. *Scandinavian Journal of Caring Sciences*, 22(4), 529-535.
- Nelson, M. C., Lust, K., Stiry, M., & Ehlinger, E. (2008). Credit card debt, stress, and key health risk behaviors among college students. *American Journal of Health Promotion*, 22(6), 400-407.
- Norvell, N., Belles, D., Brody, S., & Freund, A. (1987). Worksite stress management for medical care personnel: Results from a pilot program. *Journal for Specialists in Group Work*, 57, 118-126.
- Nyklícek, I., & Kuijpers, K. F. (2008). Effects of mindfulness-based stress reduction intervention on psychological well-being and quality of life: Is increased mindfulness indeed the mechanism? *Annals of Behavioral Medicine*, *35*(3), 331-340.
- O'Haver-Day, P., & Horton-Deutsh, S. (2004). Using mindfulness-based therapeutic interventions in psychiatric nursing practice. Part 1: Description and empirical support for mindfulness-based interventions. *Archives of Psychiatric Nursing*, 18(5), 164-169.

- Ott, M. J. (2004). Mindfulness meditation: A path of transformation and healing. *Journal of Psychosocial Nursing and Mental Health Services*, 42(7), 22-29.
- Palumbo, M. L., Fosser, N. S., Rios, H., Zubilete, A. Z., Guelman, L. R., Cremaschi, G. A. et al. (2007). Loss of hippocampal neuronal nitric oxide synthase contributes to the stress-related deficit in learning and memory. *Journal of Neurochemistry*, 102, 261-274.
- Paykel, E. S. (1978). Contribution of life events to causation of psychiatric illness. *Psychological Medicine*, *8*, 245-253.
- Paykel, E. S., Myers, J. K., Dienelt, M. N., Klerman, G. L., Lindenthal, J. J., & Pepper, M. P. (1969). Life events and depression: A controlled study. *Archives of General Psychiatry*, 21, 753-760.
- Pelletier, K. R. (2000). *The best alternative medicine: What works and what doesn't.* New York: Simon & Schuster.
- Peterson, U., Demerouti, E., Bergström, G., Samuelsson, M., Asberg, M., & Nygren, A. (2008). Burnout and physical and mental health in Swedish health-care workers. *Journal of Advanced Nursing*, 62(1), 84-95.
- Poulin, P. A., Mackenzie, C. S., Soloway, G., & Karayolas, E. (2008). Mindfulness training as an evidence-based approach to reducing stress and promoting well-being among human services professionals. *International Journal of Health Promotion & Education*, 46(2), 72-80.
- Robert-McComb, J. J., Tacon, A., Randolph, P., & Caldera, Y. (2004). A pilot study to examine the effects of a mindfulness-based stress-reduction and relaxation program on levels of stress hormones, physical functioning, and submaximal exercise responses. *Journal of Alternative and Complementary Medicine*, 10(5), 819-827.
- Salovey, P., Rothman, A. J., Detweiler, J. B., & Steward, W. T. (2000). Emotional states and physical health. *American Psychologist*, 55(1), 110-121.
- Sapolsky, R. M. (2004). *Why zebras don't get ulcers* (3rd ed.). New York: Henry Holt and Company.
- Shapiro, S. L., Astin, J. A., Bishop, S. R., & Cordova, M. (2005). Mindfulness-based stress reduction for health care professionals: Results from a randomized trial. *International Journal of Stress Management*, 12, 164-176.

- Shapiro, S. L., Carlson, L. E., Astin, J. A., & Freedman, B. (2006). Review article: Mechanisms of mindfulness. *Journal of Clinical Psychology*, 62(3), 373-386.
- Shapiro, S. L., Oman, D., Thoresen, C. E., Plante, T. G., & Flinders, T. (2008). Cultivating mindfulness: Effects on well-being. *Journal of Clinical Psychology*, 64(7), 840-852.
- Shapiro, S. L., Schwartz, G. E., & Bonner, G. (1998). Effects of mindfulness-based stress reduction on medical and premedical students. *Journal of Behavioral Medicine*, 21. 581-599.
- Smeltzer, S., Bare, B., Hinkle, J. L., & Cheever, K. H. (2007). *Brunner and Suddarth's textbook of medical-surgical nursing* (11th ed.). Baltimore, MD: Lippincott, Williams & Wilkins.
- Smith, B. W., Shelley, B. M., Dalen, J., Wiggins, K., Tooley, E., & Bernard, J. (2008). A pilot study comparing the effects of mindfulness-based and cognitive-behavioral stress reduction. *Journal of Alternative and Complementary Medicine*, *14*(3), 251-258.
- Speca, M., Carlson, L. E., Goodey, E., & Angen, M. (2000). A randomized wait-list, controlled clinical trial: The effects of a mindfulness meditation-based stress reduction program on mood and symptoms of stress in cancer outpatients. *Psychosomatic Medicine*, 62, 613-622.
- Stephens, R. (1992). Imagery: A treatment for nursing student anxiety. *Journal of Nursing Education*, 31(7), 314-320.
- Tanaka, A., Takehara, T., & Yamaguichi, H. (2006). Achievement goals in a presentation task: Performance expectancy achievement goals, state anxiety, and task performance. *Learning and Individual Differences*, 16, 93-99.
- Tasanapradit, Q. D. D. P. (2008). Depression and stress among the first-year medical students in University of Medicine and Pharmacy, Hochiminh City, Vietnam. *Journal of Health Research*, 22(Suppl.), 1-4.
- Tveito, T. H., & Eriksen, H. R. (2009). Integrated health program: A workplace randomized controlled trial. *Journal of Advanced Nursing*, 65(1), 110-119.
- University of Massachusetts Worcester Campus Center for Mindfulness. (n.d.). *Stress reduction program*. Retrieved August 15, 2009, from http://umassmed.edu/Content.aspx?id=41254

- Wallace, R. K., Benson, H., & Wilson, A. F. (1971). A wakeful hypometabolic physiological state. *American Journal of Physiology*, 221, 765-799.
- Watson, R., Gardiner, E., Hogston, R., Stimpson, A., Wrate, R., & Deary, I. (2009). A longitudinal study of stress and psychological distress in nurses and nursing students. *Journal of Clinical Nursing*, 18(2), 270-278.
- Whitehouse, W. G., Dinges, D. E., Orne, E. C., Keller, S. E., Bates, B. L., Bauer, N. K. et al. (1996). Psychosocial and immune effects of self-hypnosis training for stress management throughout the first semester of medical school. *Psychosomatic Medicine*, 58(3), 249-263.
- Young, L. E., Bruce, A., & Turner, L. (2001). Evaluation of a mindfulness-based stress reduction intervention. *Canadian Nurse*, 97(6), 23-26.
- Yung, P. M., Fung, M. Y., Chan, T. M., & Lau, B. W. (2004). Relaxation training methods for nurse managers in Hong Kong: A controlled study. *International Journal of Mental Health Nursing*, 13(4), 255-261.

#### CHAPTER 3

# EFFECTS OF MINDFULNESS BREATHING INTERVENTION ON STUDENT NURSES' STRESS AND RISK FOR DEPRESSION MAIN RESULTS

#### **Background**

Stress is a part of daily life with deadlines, relationships, or even disruptions in routine. *Stress* has been defined as "a condition in which the person experiences changes in the normal, balanced state" (Berman, Snyder, Kozier, & Erb, 2008, p. 1061), referred to as *homeostasis*. This alteration can occur from an overload or stressor in either the physical or psychological environment that is perceived as a threat. The change in homeostasis from stress leads to what has been identified as a stress response (Berman et al.; Sapolsky, 2004; Smeltzer, Bare, Hinkle, & Cheever, 2007), and it initiates physiological changes in the body described as the *fight or flight response*. Interestingly, psychological disruptions have the capacity to elicit the same response in the body as a physical stressor (Sapolsky). The response to regain homeostasis can be more difficult to control unless the individual is able to manage thought processes, or "the stress-response can become more damaging than the stressor itself, especially when the stress is purely psychological" (Sapolsky, p. 13).

Prolonged exposure to stress can lead to declining emotional states that "are thought to be associated with unhealthy patterns of psychological functioning" (Salovey,

Rothman, Detweiler, & Steward, 2000, p. 110), and it has been suggested as a contributing factor in both physical and mental health (Berman et al., 2008; Pelletier, 2000; Smeltzer et al., 2007). The impact from the unhealthy pattern of functioning can result in decreased feelings of well-being and risk for depression. Health-care professions are vulnerable to stress and the related conditions from high demands in caring for others with limited time, personnel, and increased acuity. Anxiety, exhaustion, depression, and decreases in immune function are some of the documented results of stress in this population (Beck & Srivastava, 1991; Cohen-Katz, Wiley, Capuano, Baker, & Shapiro, 2004; Fukuda, Ichinose, Kusama, Anndow, & Akiyoshi, 2008; Geiger-Brown, Muntaner, & Trinkoff, 2004; McVicar, 2003; Peterson et al., 2008; Salovey et al.; Tveito & Eriksen, 2009; Watson, Gardiner, Hogston, Stimpson, Wrate, & Deary, 2009).

The educational process for employment in health care can be a source of stress as individuals proceed through multiple levels of learning. Life events as well as academic pressures contribute to stress, affecting the emotional well-being of students. A report by the American College Health Association (2008) identified 50% of students reporting higher than usual to maximum stress affecting academic performance. Jones and Johnston (1997) found higher stress levels in nursing students than other college students across the 4-year program of study. These findings have implications for students in nursing programs that will last 2 to 4 years since stress longer than 6 months is termed *chronic stress*. This type of stress puts the nursing student population at higher risk for anxiety and depressive symptoms (Finlay-Jones & Brown, 1981; Kessler, 1997; Paykel et al., 1969).

An examination of nurses and nursing students by Watson et al. (2009) found high levels of stress, as measured by a brief life-events inventory and a work-stress inventory. The General Health Questionnaire provided information for psychological health related

to anxiety, insomnia, social dysfunction, and depression. Results indicated that increased stress levels contributed to higher scores on somatic symptoms, including depression. Another study identified higher levels of depression, anxiety, and memory impairment in health-care workers with greater work-related stress that contributed to disengagement, exhaustion, and burnout (Peterson et al., 2008). Psychological distress that is not addressed can lead to depression and decreased involvement in life experiences (Anisman & Zacharko, 1982; Kessler, 1997; Paykel, 1978; Paykel et al., 1969).

Learning and self-efficacy are other areas affected by increased stress and anxiety in the student nurse population. Moscaritolo (2009) stated, "When students cannot manage stress, the normal line of defense is broken and anxiety results" (p. 19). The physical and mental health of the nursing student is at risk with continued exposure to stress-producing situations. Negative emotions and the cycle of frustration, stress, and decreased learning contribute to the erosion of confidence to produce positive outcomes. This loss of confidence affects the self-efficacy of the student, decreasing the desire to continue trying and further increasing vulnerability to anxiety (Bandura, 1997). Bandura (1989) stated, "It requires a strong sense of efficacy to remain task oriented in the face of . . . failures" (p. 1176). Students want to succeed and feel satisfaction with their educational goals, which decreases when self-efficacy is diminished (Bandura, 1997, 2001).

Studies examining the effects of stress on learning have documented decreased retention of material and limited recall, which has implications for the student nurse population (Anderson et al., 2004; Beddoe & Murphy, 2004; Hains et al., 2009; Locken & Norberg, 2005; McVicar, 2003; Moscaritolo, 2009; Palumbo et al., 2007; Tanaka, Takehara, & Yamaguichi, 2006). Students across all levels of nursing education frequently list as a stressor the gap between theory and practice when entering the clinical

area (Beddoe & Murphy; Billingsley, Collins, & Miller, 2007; Evans & Kelly, 2004; Moscaritolo), which contributes to doubts with regard to the choice to pursue nursing education. Other areas listed as stressors for students include fear of failure or mistakes, questioning of ability to perform or complete tasks, rapidly changing circumstances, finances, lack of personal time, and lack of timely feedback from instructors (Billingsley et al.; Jones & Johnston, 1997, 2000; Levett-Jones, Lathlean, Higgins, & McMillan, 2009; Locken & Norberg; Moscaritolo; Stephens, 1992; Watson et al., 2009). Limited studies exist that document the effects of the connection among stress, learning, and depressive symptoms.

Interventions that have demonstrated positive effects on decreasing stress, anxiety, and health-related complaints and on increasing coping include cognitive therapy (Brunero, Cowan, & Fairbrother, 2008), mindfulness training (Cohen-Katz et al., 2005; Mackenzie, Poulin, & Seidman-Carlson, 2006; Moscaritolo, 2009), cognitive-behavioral training with relaxation (Jones & Johnston, 2000; Norvell, Belles, Brody, & Freund, 1987; Yung, Fung, Chan, & Lau, 2004), and mindfulness-based stress reduction (Smith et al., 2008). The current study examined the benefits of a brief mindfulness-based stress reduction in a group of 1st-year nursing students.

#### Purpose

The purpose of this study was to determine the effectiveness of a brief mindfulness breathing intervention in reducing stress and the risk for depression in 1st-year nursing students by measuring depression scores and physiological measures (i.e., blood pressure and pulse).

#### Research Questions and Hypotheses

Research questions and hypotheses guided the study.

#### Research Question 1

Compared with the no-treatment group, is there a decrease in depression scores after participating in the brief stress reduction intervention as measured by the Center for Epidemiologic Studies Depression Scale (Radloff, 1977)?

#### Hypothesis 1

It was hypothesized that the mean decrease and effect sizes for the depression scores in the treatment group would be larger than the treatment-as-usual group.

#### Research Question 2

Compared with the no-treatment control group, are the participants' physiological measures of stress (i.e., blood pressure and pulse) lower at later measurements than at baseline following participation in the mindfulness breathing?

#### Hypothesis 2

It was hypothesized that the mean decrease in effect sizes for the physiological measures of stress (i.e., blood pressure and pulse) scores in the treatment group would be larger than the treatment-as-usual group.

#### Research Question 3

Is there greater improvement in higher-risk students for relative risk of depression,

as determined by the Center for Epidemiologic Studies Depression Scale (Radloff, 1977) scores of 16 or greater, in measures of stress, as determined by physiological measures of blood pressure and pulse, than lower-risk students at baseline?

#### Hypothesis 3

It was hypothesized that the higher-risk students for depression at baseline would have larger improvements in outcomes.

#### Methods

#### **Sample**

The research sample consisted of 11 males and 74 females, ranging in age from 19 to 45 years, and they were 89.4% Caucasian. Demographics are illustrated in Tables 3.1, 3.2, 3.3, and 3.4. Participants in this study were recruited from 120 nursing students enrolled in 1 of 12 fall clinical classes in a course at a northwest university referred to as Table 3.1

Frequency and Percentage of Gender

Gender	Frequency	%
Male	11	12.9
Female	74	87.1
Total	85	100.0

Table 3.2

Frequency and Percentage of Race

Race	Frequency	%
African American	1	1.2
Asian or Pacific Islander	3	3.5
Caucasian	76	89.4
Hispanic/Latino	3	3.5
Other	2	2.4
Total	85	100.0

Table 3.3

Frequency and Percentage of Marital Status

Marital status	Frequency	%
Married	48	56.5
Single	32	37.6
Divorced	4	4.7
Widowed	1	1.2
Total	85	100.0

Table 3.4

Frequency and Percentage of Ages of Participants' Children Living at Home

Ages of children	Frequency	%
None	55	54.5
0 to 5 years old	23	22.8
6 to 12 years old	10	9.9
13 to 18 years old	9	8.9
19 to 25 years old	4	4.0
Total	101	100.0

Foundations of Nursing Practice Clinical. The study commenced during the 11th week of a 15-week semester. Following approval from the Institutional Review Board of the University of Utah, I visited each clinical class, introduced the research, answered questions, and gave each student a consent to participate form (see Appendix A), which was to be returned the following week. From this sampling, 90 students returned the signed consent form. Five students were unable to complete the exercises and requested to withdraw from the study within the 1st week. The participants were 2-year associate degree nursing students in the 1st year of the nursing program.

The *inclusion criteria* included all students enrolled in the 12 courses who voluntarily gave written consent to participate in the research (see Appendix A). The *exclusion criteria* included any enrolled student who did not sign the consent forms or those who did not complete the course and dropped out of the study.

#### <u>Design</u>

The current study included both descriptive and experimental components.

Descriptive measures included a Demographic Survey (see Appendix C) completed with the first set of questionnaires and a program evaluation completed with the final set of questionnaires. The independent variable in this study was a brief mindfulness breathing intervention taught by the primary investigator (6 classes) during clinical education laboratory times or treatment as usual of no intervention (6 classes). Dependent variables included physiological measures (i.e., blood pressure and pulse) and depression (Center for Epidemiologic Studies Depression Scale; Radloff, 1977).

A two-group (i.e., experimental and no-treatment control) randomized control trial design with four repeated measures (i.e., pretest, posttest, 2-month follow-up test, and 4-month follow-up test) was utilized to determine the effects of the independent variable on the dependent variables (i.e., blood pressure, pulse, and Center for Epidemiologic Studies Depression Scale). All students in the study participated in the Foundations of Nursing Practice Clinical course (i.e., 12 classes), but only the intervention classes received the intervention of mindfulness breathing. The no-treatment control classes did not receive the brief mindfulness breathing treatment modules. All classes completed the pretest, posttest, 2-month follow-up test, and 4-month follow-up test.

The 12 classes were *randomly assigned* to the treatment intervention or treatment-as-usual group using a number chart of generated random numbers. Students in the 6 treatment classes (n = 42) received the mindfulness breathing intervention and the remaining 6 classes (n = 43) were the no-treatment of no mindfulness breathing intervention in the regular Foundations of Nursing Practice Clinical course.

#### Procedures

Following Institutional Review Board approval from the University of Utah and the participating university, the 12 classes were randomized into groups by assigning each

class a number and then using a number chart of computer-generated random numbers. During a clinical laboratory education session, I approached students enrolled in the clinical classes. The students were informed about the research study and given opportunities to ask questions. Those students in the intervention classes also received information with regard to the mindfulness breathing sessions. Students agreeing to participate in the research were given a consent form (see Appendix A), with 1 week to complete and return the signed document. The following week the completed consent forms were collected. The control classes completed the Demographic Survey (see Appendix C), Center for Epidemiologic Studies Depression Scale (Radloff, 1977), Mindfulness Attention Awareness Scale (Brown & Ryan, 2003), and Student Clinical Completion Appraisal form (see Appendix B), and they had physiological measures taken following collection of the consent forms. For the intervention participants, prior to the first session of the intervention, each participant completed the Demographic Survey, Center for Epidemiologic Studies Depression Scale, Mindfulness Attention Awareness Scale, Student Clinical Completion Appraisal form, and each participant had physiological measures taken. The physiological measures and measurement tools were completed again posttest, 2 months follow-up, and 4 months follow-up for all participants.

#### Instruments

The instruments selected for this study were the following: (a) Center for Epidemiologic Studies Depression Scale (Radloff, 1977) and (b) physiological measures. All measures were administered pretest, posttest, 2-month follow-up test, and 4-month follow-up test for both the intervention and control groups.

Center for Epidemiologic Studies Depression Scale. The Center for Epidemiologic Studies Depression Scale is a self-report measure developed by Radloff (1977) to assess the intensity of "depressive symptomatology" (p. 385) in the general population. The scale was developed as a method of measuring an individual's current level of depression symptoms with an emphasis on emotions and mood. The Center for Epidemiologic Studies Depression Scale consists of 20 items that make up the following four subscales: (a) depressed affect, (b) positive affect, (c) somatic symptoms, and (d) interpersonal. The total scale has a high internal consistency, producing a coefficient alpha of .80 or above in previous studies (Golden et al., 2008; U.S. Department of Health & Human Services, 1985). The Center for Epidemiologic Studies Depression Scale has been proven useful in surveys of general populations to measure depression symptoms (Beekman et al., 1997; Mortimer et al., 2005; Radloff). Concurrent validity for measures of depressive symptoms ranges from .30 to .80 when compared with similar instruments (Caracciolo & Giaquinto, 2002; Radloff; U.S. Department of Health & Human Services).

Scoring ranges from 0 to 60, with each of the 20 items having a *low value* of 0 to a *high value* of 3. Scores of greater than 16 have been recommended as a cutoff point for determining mild depression (Comstock & Hesling, 1976; Golden et al., 2008; Pandya, Metz, & Patten, 2005; Schein & Koenig, 1997; Weissman & Locke, 1983). Other studies have found variances in the general populations and gender differences, recommending scores of 17 up to 23 as a cutoff for determining mild depression (Ferketich, Schwartzbaum, Frid, & Moeschberger, 2000; Husani, Neff, Harrington, Hughes, & Stone, 1990; Roberts & Vernon, 1983). As a self-report measure, it is important to note that the Center for Epidemiologic Studies Depression Scale measures an individual's response to situations that have occurred over the previous week and may be affected by events such as illness. The Center for Epidemiologic Studies Depression Scale assesses self-reported

depressive symptoms, but it is not diagnostic of depression (Golden et al.; Pandya et al.); only a diagnostic evaluation can determine depression.

Physiological measures (i.e., blood pressure and pulse). Physiological measures were taken using standardized equipment and procedures. Blood pressure and pulse measurements are a quick method of determining individual status and have been used by health-care providers as a first step in an assessment (Berman et al., 2008; Curran, n.d.; Smeltzer et al., 2007). Factors affecting a blood pressure reading include state of mind (i.e., stress and anxiety increase blood pressure), time of day (i.e., usually lower in the morning), gender (i.e., females from puberty to menopause are generally lower than males), and proper cuff size. A blood pressure cuff that is too small or too large will produce false high or low readings. Another factor that may influence the reading when repeated measures are taken is the choice of arms, as readings can differ from arm to arm (Berman et al.; Smeltzer et al.). To ensure an accurate reading in the participants, the cuff was measured for each participant for a width that was 40% of the arm circumference and was placed with the bladder of the cuff over the artery of the selected arm 1 to 2 inches above the antecubital space.

The Microlife Blood Pressure Monitor was used for this assessment. The individual was seated with feet flat on the floor, arm resting on lap with elbow slightly flexed, palm facing up, and forearm at heart level. The deflated cuff was wrapped around the forearm (right or left depending on individual preference) and secured with the Velcro attachment. The individual was instructed to sit still until the measurement was completed as the start button was pushed. If a repeated measure was needed, a wait of 1 to 2 minutes between readings was instituted to ensure accuracy of the measurement (Berman et al., 2008). The monitor displayed both the blood pressure and the pulse. Recording of the blood pressure and pulse included the arm used to ensure consistency in

follow-up measurements. No elevated readings of greater than or equal to 160/100 (U.S. Preventive Services Task Force, 2004) were noted in this sample. Elevated readings would have been noted with instructions to contact the personal health-care provider for follow-up.

The Microlife Blood Pressure Monitor was calibrated and tested at the factory with results on file and available upon request. The monitor was rated as high accuracy by the American Heart Association (Microlife Corporation, n.d.). An evaluation of blood pressure monitoring devices comparing mercury sphygmomanometers and automatic devices indicated that their use eliminated observer bias and were useful for blood pressure measurements (Buchanan, 2009).

Intervention. Materials for the brief mindfulness breathing intervention were developed into a standardized curriculum, with the content adapted from evidence-based mindfulness breathing courses designed and tested by Bhikkhu (1997), Gunaratana (1990), and Kabat-Zinn (1992, 1994, 2006). The script for the mindfulness breathing intervention (see Appendix D) was reviewed by a trained mindfulness breathing facilitator prior to use. In order to maintain consistency, I conducted all sessions for the intervention groups.

Participants in the intervention classes were instructed on a brief mindfulness breathing intervention for 3 consecutive weeks following enrollment. Week 1 participants were introduced to mindfulness breathing, mindfulness history, and uses for mindfulness breathing. Students were allowed to ask questions for clarifications at this time. Students were requested to make themselves comfortable, after which the mindfulness breathing script was followed to guide the participants through the breathing experience (see Appendix D). At the conclusion of the breathing script, students were guided through a debriefing exercise following a script to maintain consistency in each group. Debriefing

following the breathing exercise provided an opportunity for the participants to examine feelings and possible applications for the mindfulness breathing in clinical practice, school work, and daily life. The session lasted approximately 1 hour, 30 minutes. At the conclusion of the session, students were given a compact disc containing the mindfulness breathing script (see Appendix D) and instructed to continue daily practice at home. Students were also told to include any music with the compact disc that would help them to focus on breathing, if they desired. The intervention session was repeated at Week 2 and Week 3, using the mindfulness breathing script (see Appendix D) and the debriefing script (see Appendix E). Students were given color-coded weekly practice logs (see Appendix F) at the first session in order to record days of practice during the week, which they were instructed to return by Week 5. The daily practice logs (see Appendix F) were gathered at Week 5 with the data collection. Students in the intervention groups were asked to refrain from discussing mindfulness breathing with students other than those in their clinical group during the next 4 months so as to prevent a possible change in behavior in the control participants.

#### Analyses and Results

Because of nesting effects, statistical analysis was conducted using hierarchical linear modeling. Despite the random assignment of the groups for this study, students within a group tend to be more alike due to similar experiences as well as having the same clinical instructor. This tendency towards homogeneity in the group leads to a higher incidence of a Type I error (Bickel, 2007; Osborne, 2000). Hierarchical linear modeling provides a method to more accurately model the effects of the variable on the outcomes and addresses independence issues in the sample population. Missing data were determined to be missing completely at random, with pairwise deletion used for analysis.

#### **Depression Outcomes**

Research Question 1 examined whether differences exist on depression by group (intervention compared with control), as measured by the Center for Epidemiologic Studies Depression Scale (Radloff, 1977), while participants are nested in teachers. The hierarchical linear mixed model analyses of variance demonstrated an increasing difference between groups, reaching a significance level by posttest (see Tables 3.5 and 3.6). Means and standard deviations for the depression measure demonstrated a downward trend for the intervention group; in contrast, the control group had an increase at 2-month follow-up and 4-month follow-up.

### <u>Physiological Stress Measures: Blood Pressure</u> and Pulse

Research Question 3 examined whether differences exist on the participants' physiological measures of stress (i.e., blood pressure and pulse) by group (intervention compared with control) while participants are nested in teachers. The hierarchical linear mixed model analyses of variance reached statistical significance for systolic and diastolic measures by posttest but not for pulse (see Table 3.7). Interestingly, pulse did not demonstrate the same trend as did the blood pressure measures. The means and standard deviations demonstrated a greater decrease of physiological measures in the intervention group (see Table 3.8).

Table 3.5

Analyses of Variance on Depression Variable Across Four Repeated Measures by Group: Intervention Compared With Control

				_
CES-D	J.C	F	C: ~	Cohen's d
(research variables)	df	Γ	Sig.	Conen s a
<u>Pretest</u>				
Between group	1	.623	.432	0.17
Within group	83	_		
Total	84			
<u>Posttest</u>				
Between group	1	3.056	.084	0.39
Within group	82	_		
Total	83			
2-month follow-up test				
Between group	1	3.643	.060	0.42
Within group	83	_		
Total	84			
4-month follow-up test				
Between group	1	6.864	.010**	0.58
Within group	82	_		
Total	83			

*Note.* CES-D = Center for Epidemiologic Studies Depression Scale.

<sup>\*\*</sup>Statistically significant between-group outcomes at the p < .01 alpha level.

Table 3.6

Means and Standard Deviations on Center for Epidemiologic Studies Depression Scale
Over Four Repeated Measures by Group: Intervention Compared With Control

	Intervention $(n = 42)$		Control $(n = 43)$		
	M	SD	M	SD	
Pretest	16.43	9.14	18.02	9.48	
Posttest	9.73	8.61	13.12	9.11	
2-month follow-up test	12.74	8.37	16.70	10.60	
4-month follow-up test	12.02	8.29	17.49	10.62	

Table 3.7

Analyses of Variance Results of Blood Pressure and Pulse Measures by Group: Intervention Compared With Control

Vital signs (research variables)	df	F	Sig.	Cohen's d
Systolic pretest				
Between group	1	.191	.663	0.10
Within group	83			
Total	84			
Diastolic pretest				
Between group	1	1.173	.282	0.24
Within group	83			
Total	84			
Pulse pretest				
Between group	1	2.766	.100	0.37
Within group	83			
Total	84			
Systolic posttest				
Between group	1	.558	.457	0.17
Within group	78			
Total	79			
Diastolic posttest				
Between group	1	1.373	.245	0.27
Within group	77			
Total	78			
Pulse posttest				
Between group	1	.111	.740	0.08
Within group	75			
Total	76			
Systolic 2-month follow-up test				
Between group	1	3.329	.072	0.41

Table 3.7 (continued)

Within group	81			
Total	82			
Diastolic 2-month follow-up test				
Between group	1	2.685	.105	0.36
Within group	82			
Total	83			
Pulse 2-month follow-up test				
Between group	1	.526	.470	0.16
Within group	81			
Total	82			
Systolic 4-month follow-up test				
Between group	1	6.557	.012**	0.57
Within group	81			
Total	82			
Diastolic 4-month follow-up test				
Between group	1	6.078	.016**	0.55
Within group	81			
Total	82			
Pulse 4-month follow-up test				
Between group	1	.059	.809	0.05
Within group	80			
Total	81			

<sup>\*\*</sup>Statistically significant between-group outcomes at the p < .01 alpha level.

Table 3.8

Means and Standard Deviations on Research Variables by Group: Intervention Compared With Control

-		Intervention $(n = 42)$			Control $(n = 43)$		
		M	SD		M	SD	
Systolic pretest	7	120.6	11.28	9	121.7	12.37	
Diastolic pretest		72.83	9.07		75.00	9.37	
Pulse pretest		74.02	10.51		78.00	11.50	
Systolic posttest	0	113.7	10.18	4	115.4	10.55	
Diastolic posttest		73.58	8.23		71.49	7.65	
Pulse posttest		72.28	11.21		71.41	11.48	
Systolic 2-month follow-up test	0	114.2	12.28	7	119.1	12.54	
Diastolic 2-month follow-up test		72.05	12.46		75.88	8.64	
Pulse 2-month follow-up test		74.10	11.91		75.88	10.45	
Systolic 4-month follow-up test	3	113.5	11.24	5	119.6	10.56	
Diastolic 4-month follow-up test		70.40	8.53		75.40	9.82	
Pulse 4-month follow-up test		74.90	13.11		74.21	12.63	

# Results of Correlational Analysis of Depression With Stress Measures

Correlations were conducted on depression and physiological measures. Positive correlations were found between depression and some physiological measures, indicating that as depression decreased the physiological measure also decreased. An example of this is depression and diastolic measurement at 4-month follow-up (r = .232, p < .05). Diastolic and systolic measures at 4-month follow-up were also correlated (r = .576, p < .01). No correlation was found between pulse and depression.

# <u>Results of Analysis of the Impact of Depression</u> on Other Measures

Research Question 3 examined differences on the research variables by at-risk students (high risk = depression scores of 18.75 and above and low risk = depression scores at 9 and below). Risk scores were determined by taking 25% of the highest scores and 25% of the lowest scores. Previous studies examining the Center for Epidemiologic Studies Depression Scale (Radloff, 1977) have recommended scores of between 16 and 23 as indicative of mild depression (Comstock & Hesling, 1976; Ferketich et al., 2000; Golden et al., 2008; Husani et al., 1990; Pandya et al., 2005; Roberts & Vernon, 1983; Schein & Koenig, 1997; Weissman & Locke, 1983). No differences were found (see Table 3.9).

Table 3.9

T Tests on Physiological Measures by Depression

				At-risk group			
				Lo	ow	Hi	gh
Research variables	t	df	Sig.	M	SD	M	SD
Systolic posttest	1.009	37	0.319	117.68	11.44	114.40	8.77
Systolic 2-month follow-up test	-0.104	39	0.917	117.40	15.19	117.86	12.82
Systolic 4-month follow-up test	0.711	38	0.481	120.68	10.11	118.19	11.88
Diastolic posttest	0.582	37	0.564	75.74	7.24	74.40	7.10
Diastolic 2-month follow-up test	1.205	39	0.236	77.55	9.43	73.90	9.92
Diastolic 4-month follow-up test	-0.194	38	0.847	74.68	8.98	75.33	11.83
Pulse posttest	-1.470	34	0.151	70.61	9.50	76.50	14.09
Pulse 2-month follow-up test	-0.333	39	0.741	76.40	12.61	77.57	9.81
Pulse 4-month follow-up test	-0.277	38	0.783	76.05	11.10	77.33	17.15

## Discussion

The current study demonstrated the possibility for the use of a brief session of mindfulness breathing in decreasing the risk for depression and stress in this sample of nursing students. Of interest is that these statistically significant results were not manifest immediately at posttest or the 2-month follow-up test but were evident by the 4-month test. For some reason, the control group also improved by posttest but did not maintain these improvements over time like the effectiveness of the mindfulness breathing intervention on the experimental students. It is hoped that the students were remembering

to use these mindfulness techniques to reduce their stress during clinical procedures and that these mindfulness techniques were reducing their stress and depression.

Previous studies utilizing mindfulness breathing have incorporated learning sessions of 2 hours or more daily over several weeks (Beddoe & Murphy, 2004; Brown & Ryan, 2003; Kabat-Zinn, 2003; Poulin, Mackenzie, Soloway, & Karayolas, 2008; Shapiro, Astin, Bishop, & Cordova, 2005; Shapiro, Oman, Thoresen, Plante, & Flinders, 2008), which can be burdensome to nursing students who already feel overwhelmed with time constraints. Several studies condensed the time to four shorter sessions and maintained positive benefits (Jain et al., 2007; Mackenzie et al., 2006; Poulin et al.). This intervention consisted of one 60- to 90-minute session once weekly for 3 weeks, with students reporting an average of 3 days of practice during each of the study weeks. The results appear to indicate an ability to learn and utilize mindfulness in a brief time frame to decrease the risk for depression in a student nurse population.

Results of this study suggest that interventions to manage stress early in the nursing education may contribute to a more positive educational experience for students. Health-care professions are vulnerable to stress from high demands caring for others with limited time, personnel, and increased acuity of those under their care, leading to declines in health status that includes the risk for depression (Beck & Srivastava, 1991; Cohen-Katz et al., 2004; Fukuda et al., 2008; McVicar, 2003; Salovey et al., 2000; Tveito & Eriksen, 2009; Watson et al., 2009). This stress begins early during the educational process, with students listing stressors that include a gap between theory and practice when participating with procedures in the clinical area (Beddoe & Murphy, 2004; Billingsley et al., 2007; Evans & Kelly, 2004; Moscaritolo, 2009), fear of failure or mistakes, questioning of ability to perform or complete tasks, rapidly changing circumstances, finances, lack of personal time, and lack of timely feedback from

instructors (Billingsley et al.; Jones & Johnston, 1997, 2000; Levett-Jones et al., 2009; Locken & Norberg, 2005; Moscaritolo; Stephens, 1992; Watson et al.).

The continued exposure to circumstances that create stress decreases learning, leads to physiological health changes, and increases the risk for depression (Anderson et al., 2004; Bandura, 1997; Beddoe & Murphy, 2004; Hains et al., 2009; Locken & Norberg, 2005; McVicar, 2003; Moscaritolo, 2009; Palumbo et al., 2007; Tanaka et al., 2006). Students in the current study demonstrated an ability to learn mindfulness breathing in a short time frame and then apply this in a variety of situations. As mindfulness increased, the risk for depression decreased and the participant's blood pressure lowered.

Students who have a positive mental attitude will be in a better situation for learning as they progress through the educational process. Those with positive experiences will be more likely to carry a positive attitude into the workplace following graduation, thus leading to decreased burnout and risk for depression during employment. Positive experiences and a positive attitude can contribute to greater satisfaction in the workplace. The majority of students (91%) in the intervention group stated feeling satisfied with the program, would continue the practice, and would recommend the mindfulness breathing to other students. Some students commenting on the use of mindfulness breathing believed it had contributed to lower blood pressure, decreased number of headaches, and better sleeping.

#### Limitations

While the design was a randomized class design, there were threats to the validity of the results such as inadvertent diffusion of the intervention to the control group. In addition, the sample size was actually the number of classes, which reduces the power to

detect significant differences. The hierarchical linear modeling design helped to control for nesting effects of students within randomized classes, but it also reduced the ability to detect statistical differences. Hence, the effect sizes were of greater interest and they were reasonably large. The control group probably improved because they were not a true notreatment control group but, in fact, were receiving the nursing skills training class, which would have increased confidence with clinical skills, thus assisting in a reduction in the risk for depression and stress by the end of class. However, only those with the mindfulness breathing intervention maintained these gains over time.

This study was limited to one geographical area with little ethnic diversity in the sample, which can affect generalization to other populations. The sample size itself was smaller than expected. Students at the end of the 1st semester may have already felt burdened with school requirements; consequently, only 71% of the available population participated. Timing of data gathering may have affected the results, with some students completing a clinical rotation prior to answering questions while others were at the beginning of a clinical experience, thus affecting scores. Students were also at the end of the semester for the pretest and posttest with a 3-week vacation from school responsibilities before gathering data at the 2-month follow-up test, which could have resulted in a more relaxed state of mind. Despite instructing students not to communicate any information with regard to the intervention, there may have been some inadvertent comments between students as they entered the 2nd semester in new clinical groups, which contained both control and intervention participants, leading to a contamination of final results.

#### Recommendations

This study commenced at the end of the 1st semester when stress levels may have

been increased. Students may be more willing to participate if introduced at the beginning of the semester, which would also avoid the break between semesters when stress levels may naturally decrease. The increased willingness of students at the beginning of the semester could also increase the number of participants. Documenting and managing the timing for completion of questionnaires would provide more accuracy in the measures. Increasing diversity and locations would enhance the probability of generalization to other populations. Comparing number of days practiced with scores would assist in identifying the benefits of practice.

#### Conclusion

These results show that mindfulness (a) can be learned and applied to situations in a brief time frame, (b) decreases risk for depression, and (c) shows a downward trend on blood pressure (i.e., a physiological measure of stress). By increasing awareness in student nurses, learning can be enhanced in various educational settings, which can transfer into personal life and employment.

#### References

- American College Health Association. (2008). Retrieved June 12, 2009, from http://www.achancha.org/docs/ACHA-NCHA\_Reference\_Group \_ExecutiveSummary\_Fall2008.pdf
- Anderson, M. C., Ochsner, K. N., Kuhl, B., Cooper, J., Robertson, E., Gabrieli, S. W. et al. (2004). Neural systems underlying the suppression of unwanted memories. *Science*, 303, 232-235.
- Anisman, H., & Zacharko, R. (1982). Depression: The predisposing influence of stress. *Behavioral and Brain Science*, *5*(1), 89-137.
- Bandura, A. (1989). Human agency in social cognitive theory. *American Psychologist*, 44(9), 1175-1184.

- Bandura, A. (1997). *Self-efficacy: The exercise of control*. New York: W. H. Freeman and Company.
- Bandura, A. (2001). Social cognitive theory: An agentive perspective. *Annual Review of Psychology*, 52, 1-26.
- Beck, D., & Srivastava, R. (1991). Perceived level and sources of stress in baccalaureate nursing students. *Journal of Nursing Education*, *30*, 127-133.
- Beddoe, A. E., & Murphy, S. O. (2004). Does mindfulness decrease stress and foster empathy among nursing students? *Journal of Nursing Education*, 34(7), 305-312.
- Beekman, A. T., Deeg, D. J., van Limbeek, J., Braam, A. W., DeVries, M. A., & VanTilburg, W. (1997). Criterion validity of the Center for Epidemiologic Studies Depression Scale (CES-D): Results from a community-based sample of older subjects in the Netherlands. *Psychological Medicine*, 27(1), 231-235.
- Berman, A., Snyder, S. J., Kozier, B., & Erb, G. (2008). *Fundamentals of nursing: Concepts, process, and practice* (8th ed.). Upper Saddle River, NJ: Pearson Prentice Hall.
- Bhikkhu, B. (1997). *Mindfulness with breathing: A manual for serious beginners*. Boston: Wisdom Publications.
- Bickel, R. (2007). *Multilevel analysis for applied research: It's just regression*. New York: The Guilford Press.
- Billingsley, S. K., Collins, A. M., & Miller, M. (2007). Student issues. Healthy student, healthy nurse: A stress management workshop. *Nurse Educator*, *32*(2), 49-51.
- Brown, K. W., & Ryan, R. M. (2003). The benefits of being present: Mindfulness and its role in psychological well-being. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 84, 822-848.
- Brunero, S., Cowan, D., & Fairbrother, G. (2008). Reducing emotional distress in nurses using cognitive-behavioral therapy: A preliminary program evaluation. *Japan Journal of Nursing Science*, 5(2), 109-115.
- Buchanan, S. (2009). *The accuracy of alternatives to mercury sphygmomanometers* [Electronic version]. Health Care Research Collaborative. Retrieved July 18, 2009, from http://globalhealthandsafety.org/resources/library/SphygmoPaper \_R4\_LoRes-1.pdf

- Caracciolo, B., & Giaquinto, S. (2002). Criterion validity of the Center for Epidemiologic Studies Depression Scale (CES-D) in a sample of rehabilitation inpatients. *Journal of Rehabilitation Medicine*, 34, 221-225.
- Cohen-Katz, J., Wiley, S. D., Capuano, T., Baker, D. M., Kimmel, S., & Shapiro, S. (2005). The effects of mindfulness-based stress reduction on nurse stress and burnout. Part 2: A quantitative and qualitative study. *Holistic Nursing Practice*, 19(1), 26-35.
- Cohen-Katz, J., Wiley, S. D., Capuano, T., Baker, D. M., & Shapiro, S. (2004). The effects of mindfulness-based stress reduction on nurse stress and burnout. *Holistic Nursing Practice*, 18(6), 302-308.
- Comstock, G. W., & Hesling, K. J. (1976). Symptoms of depression in two communities. *Psychological Medicine*, *6*, 551-563.
- Curran, R. (n.d.). *Vital signs. Part 1: Blood pressure*. Cygnus Business Media. Retrieved March 28, 2010, from http://www.emsresponder.com
- Evans, W., & Kelly, B. (2004). Preregistration diploma student nurse stress and coping measures. *Nurse Education Today*, *24*, 473-482.
- Ferketich, A. K., Schwartzbaum, J. A., Frid, D. J., & Moeschberger, M. L. (2000). Depression as an antecedent to heart disease among women and men in the NHANES I study. *Archives of Internal Medicine*, *160*, 1261-1268.
- Finlay-Jones, R., & Brown, G. W. (1981). Types of stressful life events and the onset of anxiety and depressive disorders. *Psychological Medicine*, 11, 803-815.
- Fukuda, H., Ichinose, T., Kusama, T., Anndow, K., & Akiyoshi, N. (2008). Stress assessment in acute care department nurses by measuring interleukin-8. *International Nursing Review*, 55(4), 407-411.
- Geiger-Brown, J., Muntaner, J. L., & Trinkoff, A. (2004). Demanding work schedules and mental health in nursing assistants working in nursing homes. *Work & Stress*, 18(4), 292-304.
- Golden, S. H., Lazo, M., Carnethon, M., Betoni, A. G., Schreiner, P. J., Roux, A. V. D. et al. (2008). Examining a bidirectional association between depressive symptoms and diabetes. *Journal of the American Medical Association*, 299(23), 2751-2759.

- Gunaratana, H. (1990). *Mindfulness in plain English* [Electronic version]. Retrieved May 27, 2009, from http://www.urbandharma.org/pdf/mindfulness\_in\_plain \_english.pdf
- Hains, A. B., Vu, M. A. T., Maciejewski, P. K., van Dyck, C. H., Gottron, M., & Arnsten, A. F. T. (2009). Inhibition of protein kinase C signaling protects prefrontal cortex dendritic spines and cognition from the effects of chronic stress. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 106(42), 17957-17962.
- Husani, B. A., Neff, J. A., Harrington, J. B., Hughes, M. D., & Stone, R. H. (1990). Depression in rural communities: Validating the CES-D Scale. *Journal of Community Psychology*, 8, 20-27.
- Jain, S., Shapiro, S. L., Swanick, S., Roesch, S. C., Mills, P. J., Bell, I. et al. (2007). A randomized controlled trial of mindfulness meditation versus relaxation training: Effects on distress, positive states of mind, rumination, and distraction. *Annals of Behavioral Medicine*, 33(1), 11-21.
- Jones, M. C., & Johnston, D. W. (1997). Distress, stress, and coping in first-year student nurses. *Journal of Advanced Nursing*, 26(4), 475-482.
- Jones, M. C., & Johnston, D. W. (2000). Evaluating the impact of a worksite stress management program for distressed students: A randomized controlled trial. *Psychology and Health*, *15*, 689-706.
- Kabat-Zinn, J. (1992). Full catastrophe living: Using the wisdom of your body and mind to face stress, pain, and illness. New York: Dell Publishing.
- Kabat-Zinn, J. (1994). Wherever you go, there you are: Mindfulness meditation in everyday life. New York: Hyperion.
- Kabat-Zinn, J. (2003). Mindfulness-based interventions in context: Past, present, and future. *Clinical Psychology: Science and Practice*, *10*, 144-156.
- Kabat-Zinn, J. (2006). *Mindfulness for beginners* (Compact Disc Recording No. W1043D). Boulder, CO: Sounds True.
- Kessler, R. C. (1997). The effects of stressful life events on depression. *Annual Reviews of Psychology*, 48, 191-214.
- Levett-Jones, T., Lathlean, J., Higgins, I., & McMillan, M. (2009). Staff-student relationships and their impact on nursing students' belongingness and learning. *Journal of Advanced Nursing*, 65(2), 316-324.

- Locken, T., & Norberg, H. (2005). Reduced anxiety improves learning ability of nursing students through utilization of mentoring triads. Abstract retrieved June 3, 2009, from http://nursing.byu.edu/Documents/research/abstracts\_05-06/Locken,%20Norberg%20(2005)%20Reduced%20Anxiety%20Improves%20Le arning%20Ability%20of%20Nursing%20Students%20Through%20....pdf
- Mackenzie, C. S., Poulin, P. A., & Seidman-Carlson, R. (2006). A brief mindfulness-based stress reduction intervention for nurses. *Applied Nursing Research*, 19(2), 105-109.
- McVicar, A. (2003). Workplace stress in nursing. *Journal of Advanced Nursing*, 44, 633-642.
- Microlife Corporation. (n.d.). *Microlife blood pressure monitor instruction booklet*. Dunedin, FL: Author.
- Mortimer, J. S. B., Sephton, S. E., Kimerling, R., Butler, L., Bernstein, A. S., & Spiegel, D. (2005). Chronic stress, depression, and immunity in spouses of metastatic breast cancer patients. *Clinical Psychologist*, *9*(2), 59-63.
- Moscaritolo, L. M. (2009). Interventional strategies to decrease nursing student anxiety in the clinical learning environment. *Journal of Nursing Education*, 48(1), 17-23.
- Norvell, N., Belles, D., Brody, S., & Freund, A. (1987). Worksite stress management for medical care personnel: Results from a pilot program. *Journal for Specialists in Group Work*, 57, 118-126.
- Osborne, J. W. (2000). Advantages of hierarchical linear modeling. *Practical Assessment, Research, & Evaluation, 7*(1), Retrieved August 16, 2009, from http://PAREonline.net/getvn.asp?v=7&n=1
- Palumbo, M. L., Fosser, N. S., Rios, H., Zubilete, A. Z., Guelman, L. R., Cremaschi, G. A. et al. (2007). Loss of hippocampal neuronal nitric oxide synthase contributes to the stress-related deficit in learning and memory. *Journal of Neurochemistry*, 102, 261-274.
- Pandya, R., Metz, L., & Patten, S. B. (2005). Predictive value of the CES-D in detecting depression among candidates for disease-modifying multiple sclerosis treatment. *Psychosomatics*, *46*(2), 131-134.
- Paykel, E. S. (1978). Contribution of life events to causation of psychiatric illness. *Psychological Medicine*, *8*, 245-253.

- Paykel, E. S., Myers, J. K., Dienelt, M. N., Klerman, G. L., Lindenthal, J. J., & Pepper,
  M. P. (1969). Life events and depression: A controlled study. *Archives of General Psychiatry*, 21, 753-760.
- Pelletier, K. R. (2000). *The best alternative medicine: What works and what doesn't.* New York: Simon & Schuster.
- Peterson, U., Demerouti, E., Bergström, G., Samuelsson, M., Asberg, M., & Nygren, A. (2008). Burnout and physical and mental health in Swedish health-care workers. *Journal of Advanced Nursing*, 62(1), 84-95.
- Poulin, P. A., Mackenzie, C. S., Soloway, G., & Karayolas, E. (2008). Mindfulness training as an evidence-based approach to reducing stress and promoting well-being among human services professionals. *International Journal of Health Promotion & Education*, 46(2), 72-80.
- Radloff, L. S. (1977). The CES-D Scale: A self-report depression scale for research in the general population. *Applied Psychological Measurement*, *1*(3), 385-401.
- Roberts, R. E., & Vernon, S. W. (1983). The Center for Epidemiologic Studies Depression Scale: Its use in a community sample. *American Journal of Psychiatry*, 140, 41-46.
- Salovey, P., Rothman, A. J., Detweiler, J. B., & Steward, W. T. (2000). Emotional states and physical health. *American Psychologist*, 55(1), 110-121.
- Sapolsky, R. M. (2004). *Why zebras don't get ulcers* (3rd ed.). New York: Henry Holt and Company.
- Schein, R. L., & Koenig, H. G. (1997). The Center for Epidemiologic Studies Depression Scale (CES-D): Assessment of depression in the medically ill elderly. *International Journal of Geriatric Psychiatry*, 12, 436-446.
- Shapiro, S. L., Astin, J. A., Bishop, S. R., & Cordova, M. (2005). Mindfulness-based stress reduction for health-care professionals: Results from a randomized trial. *International Journal of Stress Management*, 12, 164-176.
- Shapiro, S. L., Oman, D., Thoresen, C. E., Plante, T. G., & Flinders, T. (2008). Cultivating mindfulness: Effects on well-being. *Journal of Clinical Psychology*, 64(7), 840-852.
- Smeltzer, S., Bare, B., Hinkle, J. L., & Cheever, K. H. (2007). *Brunner and Suddarth's textbook of medical-surgical nursing* (11th ed.). Baltimore, MD: Lippincott, Williams & Wilkins.

- Smith, B. W., Shelley, B. M., Dalen, J., Wiggins, K., Tooley, E., & Bernard, J. (2008). A pilot study comparing the effects of mindfulness-based and cognitive-behavioral stress reduction. *Journal of Alternative and Complementary Medicine*, *14*(3), 251-258.
- Stephens, R. (1992). Imagery: A treatment for nursing student anxiety. *The Journal of Nursing Education*, 31(7), 314-320.
- Tanaka, A., Takehara, T., & Yamaguichi, H. (2006). Achievement goals in a presentation task: Performance expectancy achievement goals, state anxiety, and task performance. *Learning and Individual Differences*, 16, 93-99.
- Tveito, T. H., & Eriksen, H. R. (2009). Integrated health program: A workplace randomized controlled trial. *Journal of Advanced Nursing*, 65(1), 110-119.
- U.S. Department of Health & Human Services. (1985). *Center for Epidemiologic Studies Depression Scale (CES-D)*. Retrieved March 1, 2010, from http://www.acf.hhs.gov
- U.S. Preventive Services Task Force. (2004). Screening for high blood pressure: Recommendations and rationale. *American Journal of Nursing*, 104(11), 82-85, 87.
- Watson, R., Gardiner, E., Hogston, R., Stimpson, A., Wrate, R., & Deary, I. (2009). A longitudinal study of stress and psychological distress in nurses and nursing students. *Journal of Clinical Nursing*, 18(2), 270-278.
- Weissman, M. M., & Locke, B. Z. (1983). Comparison of a self-report symptom rating scale (CES-D) with standardized depression rating scales in psychiatric populations. *American Journal of Epidemiology*, 102, 430-431.
- Yung, P. M., Fung, M. Y., Chan, T. M., & Lau, B. W. (2004). Relaxation training methods for nurse managers in Hong Kong: A controlled study. *International Journal of Mental Health Nursing*, 13(4), 255-261.

#### CHAPTER 4

# EFFECTS OF MINDFULNESS BREATHING ON MINDFULNESS, SELF-EFFICACY, AND SKILLS PERFORMANCE IN FIRST-YEAR STUDENT NURSES

In Chapter 3, the positive impact of a mindfulness breathing intervention on reducing stress and depression in 1st-year associate degree nursing students was reported. This chapter examines the hypothesized mediators of the impact of the mindfulness breathing intervention on reducing stress and depression in these students. In fact, the intervention increased their mindfulness, resulting in improved clinical skills and self-efficacy in performing these skills. Rarely in prevention science do investigators test whether the presumed mediators of the effectiveness of the intervention are related to the manifest posttest results (McKinnon, 2010).

Studies examining stress and nursing students have documented a cycle of anxiety, fear of failure, and decreased performance (Beck & Srivastava, 1991; Beddoe & Murphy, 2004; Billingsley, Collins, & Miller, 2007; Jones & Johnston, 1997; Levett-Jones, Lathlean, Higgins, & McMillan, 2009; Locken & Norberg, 2005; Moscaritolo, 2009; Tanaka, Takehara, & Yamaguichi, 2006; Watson et al., 2009). Addressing stress early in the educational process can contribute to more positive outcomes in a student population. Although studies have examined the association among anxiety, stress, and learning, none was found connecting these with an increased risk for depression,

decreased self-efficacy, and clinical performance.

Interventions that have demonstrated positive outcomes in decreasing anxiety, stress, negative emotional response, and physical and psychological symptoms in student nurse populations include mindfulness (Beddoe & Murphy, 2004; Jain et al., 2007; Moscaritolo, 2009; Young, Bruce, & Turner, 2001), cognitive restructuring (Billingsley et al., 2007), and imagery (Stephens, 1992). It is of interest to note that mindfulness induces the relaxation response (Baer, 2003), which is similar to imagery.

Beddoe and Murphy (2004) found a decrease of stress, improved empathy, and personal satisfaction with the use of mindfulness. Although the authors acknowledged the interference of stress with learning and performance, these were not measured. Jain et al. (2007) found mindfulness to be a buffer for the psychological consequences of stress while increasing positive mood states in graduate student nurses and medical students. The current study was a randomized controlled study with a control group with a pretest and posttest design. Stress, empathy, and personal satisfaction were assessed with the Brief Symptom Inventory, Positive States of Mind Scale, Daily Emotion Report, Index of Core Spiritual Experiences, and Marlowe-Crowne (M-C) Short Form. In an examination of four studies utilizing mindfulness to decrease student anxiety, Moscaritolo (2009) found that the students were better able to perform in the clinical setting. Young et al. (2001) reviewed 24 qualitative and 25 quantitative studies. They concluded that participants voiced positive improvements in physical and psychological symptoms while quantitative measures demonstrated a decrease in stress with increased physical, social, emotional, and mental health.

Cohen-Katz, Wiley, Capuano, Baker, and Shapiro (2004) described mindfulness as a good intervention for nurses to increase self-care and to decrease stress. Kabat-Zinn (1992) discussed the ability of mindfulness to break the stress cycle, which can be of

benefit to nursing students. Mindfulness was found to be a mediator in perceived stress and quality of life (Nyklícek & Kuijpers, 2008) and in producing positive outcomes in wellness (Shapiro, Oman, Thoresen, Plante, & Flinders, 2008). An examination of the research literature on mindfulness breathing interventions revealed that few studies measured whether mindfulness increased following the mindfulness intervention and whether increases in mindfulness were correlated with increased self-efficacy and clinical performance skills, let alone depression and stress.

## **Purpose**

The purpose of this study was to determine the effectiveness of a brief mindfulness breathing intervention in reducing depression and stress, as measured by blood pressure and pulse. These results were covered in Chapter 3. This chapter examines the mediating effects of the intervention on increasing mindfulness, self-efficacy associated with the performance of critical nursing skills in 1st-year nursing students, and skills performance.

## Research Questions and Hypotheses

Research questions and hypotheses guided the study.

## Research Question 1

Compared with the no-treatment control group, is there an increase in mindfulness scores for the brief stress reduction intervention participants after completing the mindfulness breathing as measured by the Mindfulness Attention Awareness Scale (Brown & Ryan, 2003)?

# Hypothesis 1

It was hypothesized that the mean increase and effect sizes for the mindfulness scores in the treatment group would be higher than the treatment-as-usual group.

## Research Question 2

Compared with the no-treatment control group, is there an increase in self-efficacy after completing the mindfulness breathing stress reduction intervention as measured by the Student Clinical Completion Appraisal form (see Appendix B)?

# Hypothesis 2

It was hypothesized that the mean increase in effect sizes for the self-efficacy scores in the treatment group would be higher than the treatment-as-usual group.

# Research Question 3

Compared with the no-treatment control group, is there an increase in clinical performance skills following participation in the mindfulness breathing as demonstrated by individual performance grading sheets?

# Hypothesis 3

It was hypothesized that the mean increase and effect sizes for the clinical performance skills scores in the treatment group would be higher than the treatment-as-usual group.

#### Methods

#### Sample

The 85 participating nurses were recruited from 120, 1st-year associate degree nursing students enrolled in 1 of 12 fall clinical classes in a 15-week course at a northwest university referred to as Foundations of Nursing Practice Clinical. The research study was delayed until the 11th week while waiting for University of Utah Institutional Review Board approval. Ninety students signed the consent form (see Appendix A); however, 5 students were unable to complete the exercises and requested to withdraw from the study within the 1st week. The demographic characteristics were described in Chapter 3 (i.e., 89% female and 89.4% Caucasian).

The *inclusion criteria* included all students enrolled in the 12 courses who also voluntarily gave written consent to participate in the research. The *exclusion criteria* included any enrolled student who did not sign the consent forms or those who did not complete the course and dropped out of the study.

#### Design

A two-group (i.e., experimental and no-treatment control) randomized control trial design with four repeated measures (i.e., pretest, posttest, 2-month follow-up test, and 4-month follow-up test) was utilized to determine the effects of the independent variable (i.e., mindfulness breathing) on the dependent variables (i.e., Mindfulness Attention Awareness Scale, self-efficacy, and clinical performance). All students in the study participated in the Foundations of Nursing Practice Clinical course (i.e., 12 classes), but only the intervention classes received the intervention of mindfulness breathing. The notreatment control classes did not receive the brief mindfulness breathing treatment modules. All classes completed the pretest, posttest, 2-month follow-up test, and 4-month

follow-up test.

The 12 classes were *randomly assigned* to the treatment intervention or treatment-as-usual group using a number chart of generated random numbers. Those in the 6 treatment classes (n = 42 students) received the mindfulness breathing intervention and the remaining 6 classes (n = 43 students) received the no-treatment or no mindfulness breathing intervention in the regular Foundations of Clinical Nursing Practice Clinical course.

## Procedures

Approval was obtained from the University of Utah and the participating university prior to commencement of the study. A computer-generated number chart was used to randomly assign the 12 classes to the intervention or control group. Consent was obtained from each participant during a regularly scheduled clinical laboratory education session. At this time, students were informed about the research study and given opportunities to ask questions. Both the intervention and control classes completed the Demographic Survey (see Appendix C), Mindfulness Attention Awareness Scale (Brown & Ryan, 2003), and Student Clinical Completion Appraisal form (see Appendix B). The measurement tools were completed again at 5 weeks, 2 months, and 4 months for all participants. Clinical nursing skills were tested on all participants pretest and posttest. Participants in the intervention group also received the mindfulness intervention.

#### <u>Instruments</u>

The instruments selected for this study were the following: (a) Mindfulness Attention Awareness Scale (Brown & Ryan, 2003), (b) Student Clinical Completion Appraisal form (see Appendix B), and (c) clinical skills evaluation. The Mindfulness

Attention Awareness Scale and Student Clinical Completion Appraisal form were administered pretest, posttest, 2-month follow-up test, and 4-month follow-up test to both the intervention and control groups. The clinical skills evaluation was completed pretest and posttest in both groups.

Brown and Ryan (2003) developed the Mindfulness Attention Awareness Scale as a method to examine the "role of mindfulness in psychological well-being" (p. 822). The scale consists of 15 items to assess mindfulness. The 15 items are scored on a Likert-type scale from 0 (*almost always*) to 6 (*almost never*) in order to assess attention with various activities such as when driving, eating, or walking—with higher scores indicating greater mindfulness. The scale has been found to have high reliability with a Cronbach's alpha of .80 or above, and adequate validity (i.e., test-retest, convergent, and discriminant) in a variety of studies (Carmody, Reed, Kristeller, & Merriam, 2008; Nyklícek & Kuijpers, 2008; Shapiro et al., 2008; Smith et al., 2008). This finding indicates that on repeated tests the scale measured the constructs identified, had minimal extraneous variables influencing the scores, and produced similar results with repeated testing. In studies utilizing the Mindfulness Attention Awareness Scale, as mindfulness increased, negative physical and mental symptoms of wellness decreased, indicating that mindfulness benefited health status (Brown & Ryan; Carmody et al.; Shapiro et al.).

The Student Clinical Completion Appraisal form was developed following Bandura's (2006) guide for the development of self-efficacy scales. The critical skills examined were the following: (a) medication administration, (b) wound care/dressing change, and (c) urinary catheter insertion. The appraisal form asks students to rate their perceived ability to complete a task related to a skill when confronted with a stressful situation. The skills are part of the standard clinical laboratory teaching program and are also measured for competency by the clinical instructor on a grading scale from 1 to 100.

The grading sheets are standardized throughout the nursing program at the university and are used in each clinical laboratory group for grading students.

Each section of the Student Clinical Completion Appraisal form included five to six questions, asking students to assess their personal ability to complete a task related to a skill when faced with an obstacle or challenge. The scores ranged from 0 (cannot do at all) to 100 (highly certain can do). The scores for each section were added and then divided for an average score. High scores indicated that students felt confident in their ability to complete tasks or high self-efficacy and low scores indicated a decreased belief in their ability or low self-efficacy. The appraisal form was developed for the current study, demonstrating a high reliability with a Cronbach's alpha of .91.

The clinical skills evaluation is completed on all students in the nursing program to test skill knowledge and competence in performance. Students who perform nursing skills are evaluated and then graded on a standardized grading sheet by the clinical instructor. These grading sheets are used throughout the nursing program at the university, grading clinical skills from 0 to 100 points.

A brief mindfulness breathing intervention was developed into a standardized curriculum, with the content adapted from evidence-based mindfulness breathing courses designed and tested by Bhikkhu (1997), Gunaratana (1990), and Kabat-Zinn (1992, 1994, 2006). The script (see Appendix D) was used to instruct participants in the intervention classes on mindfulness breathing intervention at Weeks 1, 2, and 3. Chapter 3 provides a complete description of the intervention. Students in the intervention groups were instructed to discuss mindfulness breathing only with students in their clinical group during the next 4 months so as to prevent a possible change in behavior in the control participants.

## **Data Analysis Procedures and Results**

With students nested in classes, statistical analysis was conducted using hierarchical linear modeling. Even though groups were randomly assigned, students within a group tend to be more alike due to similar experiences and have the same clinical instructor. This tendency towards homogeneity in the group leads to a higher incidence of a Type I error (Bickel, 2007; Osborne, 2000). Hierarchical linear modeling provides a method to more accurately model the effects of the variable on the outcomes and addresses independence issues in the sample population. Data were determined to be missing completely at random, with pairwise deletion used for analysis.

## Mindfulness Results

An assumption was made that the mindfulness breathing intervention increased mindfulness that in turn reduced their stress and risk for depression because it increased their clinical efficacy. Hence, this mediator of the effectiveness of the intervention needed to be tested. Research Question 1 examined whether differences exist on mindfulness by group (intervention compared with control), as measured by the Mindfulness Attention Awareness Scale (Brown & Ryan, 2003), while participants are nested in teachers. The hierarchical linear mixed model analyses of variance did not reach statistical significance as expected, but Cohen's *d* did show an increasing difference between groups (see Table 4.1). The means and standard deviations suggest a greater increase of mindfulness in the intervention group (see Table 4.2).

# Self-Efficacy Results

Research Question 2 examined whether differences exist on self-efficacy, as measured by the Student Clinical Completion Appraisal form, by group (intervention

compared with control) while participants are nested in teachers. The hierarchical linear mixed model analyses of variance did not demonstrate an increase in confidence

Table 4.1

Effects of Mindfulness Breathing on Mindfulness Attention Awareness Scale (Analyses of Variance by Group): Intervention Compared With Control by Four Repeated Measures

MAAS (research variables)	df	F	Sig.	Cohen's d
Mindfulness, pretest				
Between group	1	.027	.871	0.04
Within group	83			
Total	84			
Mindfulness, posttest				
Between group	1	.342	.560	0.13
Within group	79			
Total	80			
Mindfulness, 2-month follow-up test				
Between group	1	2.111	.150	0.32
Within group	83			
Total	84			
Mindfulness, 4-month follow-up test				
Between group	1	1.344	.250	0.27
Within group	82			
Total	83			

*Note.* MAAS = Mindfulness Attention Awareness Scale.

Table 4.2

Means and Standard Deviations on Research Variables by Group (Intervention Compared With Control): Mindfulness Attention Awareness Scale

	Intervention $(n = 42)$		Control $(n = 43)$	
	М	SD	M	SD
Mindfulness, pretest	3.67	.75	3.70	.83
Mindfulness, posttest	3.98	.81	3.88	.81
Mindfulness, 2-month follow-up test	4.17	.72	3.90	.95
Mindfulness, 4-month follow-up test	4.23	.68	4.02	.95

as had been predicted. Although not significant, Cohen's *d* indicated a difference in groups for medication administration and wound care for the posttest and at the 2-month follow-up test for catheter insertion (see Table 4.3 and Table 4.4).

## Student Clinical Skills Rating Results

Research Question 3 examined whether differences exist on skills performance, as measured by individual performance grading sheets, by group (intervention compared with control) controlling for skills performance at pretest while participants are nested in teachers. A hierarchal linear mixed model was conducted. The analysis of variance was not statistically significant as expected (see Table 4.5), but the intervention group did demonstrate a greater change from pretest to posttest. The between-group effect size was of medium size (d = .40), suggesting that the intervention did have a reasonably large effect on improving the students' skills Table 4.3

Analyses of Variance on Research Variables by Group: Intervention Compared With Control

Student Clinical Completion Appraisal form (research variables)	df	F	Sig.	Cohen's d
Medication administration,	ај	1	Sig.	Colleil's a
<u>pretest</u>				
Between group	1	.061	.805	0.05
Within group	83			
Total	84			
Medication administration, posttest				
Between group	1	.270	.605	0.12
Within group	82			
Total	83			
Medication administration, 2- month follow-up test				
Between group	1	.149	.701	0.08
Within group	83			
Total	84			
Medication administration, 4- month follow-up test				
Between group	1	.127	.723	0.08
Within group	82			
Total	83			
Wound care, pretest				
Between group	1	.000	.998	0.00
Within group	83			
Total	84			
Wound care, posttest				
Between group	1	1.040	.311	0.23
Within group	82			
Total	83			

Table 4.3 (continued)

Wound care, 2-month follow-up test				
Between group	1	.148	.701	0.08
Within group	83			
Total	84			
Wound care, 4-month follow-up test				
Between group	1	.083	.775	0.06
Within group	82			
Total	83			
Catheter insertion, pretest				
Between group	1	.419	.519	0.14
Within group	83			
Total	84			
Catheter insertion, posttest				
Between group	1	.000	.985	0.00
Within group	82			
Total	83			
Catheter insertion, 2-month follow-up test				
Between group	1	2.056	.155	0.31
Within group	83			
Total	84			
Catheter insertion, 4-month follow-up test				
Between group	1	.851	.359	0.20
Within group	82			
Total	83			

Table 4.4

Means and Standard Deviations on Research Variables by Group (Intervention Compared With Control): Student Clinical Completion Appraisal Form

	Intervention $(n = 42)$		Control (n	= 43)
_	М	SD	М	SD
Medication administration, pretest	76.05	12.36	75.40	11.92
Medication administration, posttest	81.71	11.73	80.56	8.35
Medication administration, 2- month follow-up test	83.55	9.72	82.77	8.93
Medication administration, 4- month follow-up test	86.90	7.87	86.30	7.58
Wound care, pretest	76.62	13.39	76.63	13.79
Wound care, posttest	86.00	11.26	83.44	11.71
Wound care, 2-month follow- up test	85.31	10.70	84.42	10.64
Wound care, 4-month follow- up test	88.20	9.62	87.65	7.66
Catheter insertion, pretest	81.76	12.54	79.95	13.20
Catheter insertion, posttest	87.41	10.87	87.37	9.24
Catheter insertion, 2-month follow-up test	88.33	9.82	84.56	14.04
Catheter insertion, 4-month follow-up test	90.46	8.91	88.60	9.53

Table 4.5

Analyses of Variance on Research Variables by Group: Intervention Compared With Control

Research variables	df	F	Sig.	Cohen's d
Skills performance, pretest				
Between group	1	2.482	.119	0.35
Within group	83			
Total	84			
Skills performance, posttest				
Between group	1	3.060	.084	0.40
Within group	83			
Total	84			

performance. With a slightly larger sample size or a 2-month posttest and a 4-month posttest, statistically significant improvements in skills performance may have been seen. The intervention group was rated lower in clinical skills than the no-treatment control group, but this difference was not statistically significant. However, the intervention group improved more than the control group (see Table 4.6).

# <u>Correlations of Mindfulness to Self-Efficacy</u> and Skills Performance

To further explore the relationship of the mediator of mindfulness on the other measured outcomes, correlations conducted on the variables demonstrated numerous statistically significant correlations (see Table 4.7). For example, a positive correlation

Table 4.6

Means and Standard Deviations on Research Variables by Group: Intervention Compared With Control

_	Intervention	(n = 42)	Control $(n = 43)$		
	M	SD	M	SD	
Skills performance, pretest	92.50	5.45	94.28	4.95	
Skills performance, posttest	96.14	3.01	94.74	4.24	

Table 4.7

Pearson Correlations on Research Variables

	1	2	3	4	5	6	7
Mindfulness							
r	-	.443**	.386**	.281*	019	001	097
N		80	80	80	80	80	76
Self-efficacy, pretest							
r		-	.819**	.703**	.091	.314**	052
N			83	83	83	83	83
Self-efficacy, posttest							
r			-	.800**	004	.293**	.051
N				83	83	83	83
Self-efficacy, 2-month follow-up test							
r				-	.013	.274*	097
N					83	83	83
Skills performance, pretest							
r					-	.348**	013
N						85	85
Skills performance, posttest							
r						-	.063
N							85

<sup>\*</sup>*p* < .05.

<sup>\*\*</sup>*p* < .01.

was found between mindfulness and self-efficacy (r = .443, p < .01), indicating that as mindfulness increases, self-efficacy increases. Although not all correlations were statistically significant, there is cautious optimism in the positive trend for mindfulness as it relates to self-efficacy and skills performance.

#### Discussion

The current study suggests the ability of mindfulness as a method of increasing self-efficacy and skills performance in this population of nursing students. Previous studies have examined incorporated mindfulness learning sessions of 2 to 4 hours daily for 8 weeks (Beddoe & Murphy, 2004; Brown & Ryan, 2003; Kabat-Zinn, 2003; Poulin, Mackenzie, Soloway, & Karayolas, 2008; Shapiro, Astin, Bishop, & Cordova, 2005; Shapiro et al., 2008), which can be daunting to students already burdened with multiple responsibilities. Several studies were able to condense the time to four shorter sessions and still maintain positive benefits (Jain et al., 2007; Mackenzie, Poulin, & Seidman-Carlson, 2006; Poulin et al.). This intervention consisted of one 60- to 90-minute session repeated for 3 weeks, with students reporting an average of 3 days practice during each week. The results of this study suggest an ability of the students to learn and utilize mindfulness in a brief time frame, thus contributing to increased self-efficacy.

Although not reaching statistical significance as expected, correlations established a relationship between self-efficacy and skills: As self-efficacy increased, the scores for skills also increased (r = .314, p < .01; r = .293, p < .01; r = .274, p < .05). This finding is encouraging, considering the emphasis on skills performance for nursing students, which can contribute to further declines in a belief of personal abilities. The lack of dramatic improvements in self-efficacy could be attributed to the timing of the procedures learned earlier in the semester with multiple opportunities for practice. The study did not

commence until the 11th week of a 15-week semester and continued into the 2nd semester, during which the students had time to practice procedures and gain more confidence in personal abilities.

Stress begins early during the educational process, with students listing stressors that include a gap between theory and practice when participating with procedures in the clinical area (Beddoe & Murphy, 2004; Billingsley et al., 2007; Evans & Kelly, 2004; Moscaritolo, 2009), fear of failure or mistakes, questioning of ability to perform or complete tasks, rapidly changing circumstances, finances, lack of personal time, and lack of timely feedback from instructors (Billingsley et al.; Jones & Johnston, 1997, 2000; Levett-Jones et al., 2009; Locken & Norberg, 2005; Moscaritolo; Stephens, 1992; Watson et al., 2009). Results of this study suggest that interventions to manage stress early in the nursing education can contribute to positive outcomes for students.

The continued exposure to circumstances that create stress decreases learning, leads to physiological health changes, and decreases self-efficacy (Anderson et al., 2004; Bandura, 1997; Beddoe & Murphy, 2004; Hains et al., 2009; Locken & Norberg, 2005; McVicar, 2003; Moscaritolo, 2009; Palumbo et al., 2007; Tanaka et al., 2006). Students in the current study demonstrated an ability to learn mindfulness breathing in a short time frame and then apply this in a variety of situations. As mindfulness increased, self-efficacy also increased, which positively affected skills performance.

Students who have a positive mental attitude with increased self-efficacy will be in a better situation for learning as they progress through the educational process (Bandura, 1997). Those with positive experiences will be more likely to carry a positive attitude into the workplace following graduation, thus leading to improved performance and decreased burnout during employment and also contributing to greater satisfaction in the workplace. The majority of students (91%) in the intervention group stated feeling

satisfied with the program (K. Kumpfer, personal communication, December 1, 2002), would continue the practice, and would recommend the mindfulness breathing to other students. Some students, commenting on the use of mindfulness breathing, believed it had contributed to lower blood pressure, decreased number of headaches, and better sleeping.

### **Limitations**

Although the design was a randomized class design, there were threats to the validity of the results such as inadvertent diffusion of the intervention to the control group. In addition, the sample size was actually the number of classes, which reduces the power to detect significant differences. The hierarchical linear modeling design helped to control for nesting effects of students within randomized classes, but it also reduced the ability to detect statistical differences. Hence, the effect sizes were of greater interest and were reasonably large. The control group probably improved because they were not a true no-treatment control group but, in fact, were receiving the nursing skills training class, which would have increased self-efficacy with clinical skills that helped to reduce their stress by the end of the class. However, only those with the mindfulness breathing intervention maintained these gains over time.

The current study was limited to one geographical area with little ethnic diversity in the sample, which can affect generalization to other populations. The sample size was smaller than expected. Students at the end of the 1st semester may have already felt burdened with school requirements; consequently, only 71% of the available population participated. Timing of data gathering may have affected the results, with some students completing a clinical rotation prior to answering questions while others were at the beginning of a clinical experience. The students were also at the end of the semester for the pretest and posttest, with a 3-week vacation from school responsibilities before

gathering data at 2-month follow-up, which could have resulted in a more relaxed state of mind. Despite instructing students not to communicate any information with regard to the intervention, some inadvertent comments may have been made among students as they entered the 2nd semester in new clinical groups, which contained both control and intervention participants, thus leading to a contamination of final results.

#### Recommendations

The current study commenced at the end of the 1st semester when students may have already felt increased stress. Students would be more willing to participate if approached at the beginning of the semester, which would also avoid the break between semesters when stress levels may naturally decrease. Increased willingness to participate would also increase the number of participants. Documenting and managing the timing for completion of questionnaires would provide more accuracy in the measures. Increasing diversity and locations would enhance the probability of generalization to other populations. Comparing number of days practiced with scores would assist in identifying the benefits of practice.

#### Conclusion

These results show that mindfulness may have a positive effect for increasing self-efficacy and skills performance, which are an integral part of the nursing profession. By increasing awareness in student nurses, learning can be enhanced in various educational settings that can transfer into personal life and employment.

### References

- Anderson, M. C., Ochsner, K. N., Kuhl, B., Cooper, J., Robertson, E., Gabrieli, S. W. et al. (2004). Neural systems underlying the suppression of unwanted memories. *Science*, 303, 232-235.
- Baer, R. A. (2003). Mindfulness training as a clinical intervention: A conceptual and empirical review. *Clinical Psychology: Science and Practice*, 10(2), 125-143.
- Bandura, A. (1997). *Self-efficacy: The exercise of control*. New York: W. H. Freeman and Company.
- Bandura, A. (2006). Guide for constructing self-efficacy scales. In A. Bandura (Ed.), *Self-efficacy beliefs of adolescents* (pp. 307-337). Charlotte, NC: Information Age Publishing.
- Beck, D., & Srivastava, R. (1991). Perceived level and sources of stress in baccalaureate nursing students. *Journal of Nursing Education*, *30*, 127-133.
- Beddoe, A. E., & Murphy, S. O. (2004). Does mindfulness decrease stress and foster empathy among nursing students? *Journal of Nursing Education*, 34(7), 305-312.
- Bhikkhu, B. (1997). *Mindfulness with breathing: A manual for serious beginners*. Boston: Wisdom Publications.
- Bickel, R. (2007). *Multilevel analysis for applied research: It's just regression*. New York: The Guilford Press.
- Billingsley, S. K., Collins, A. M., & Miller, M. (2007). Student issues. Healthy student, healthy nurse: A stress management workshop. *Nurse Educator*, *32*(2), 49-51.
- Brown, K. W., & Ryan, R. M. (2003). The benefits of being present: Mindfulness and its role in psychological well-being. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 84, 822-848.
- Carmody, J., Reed, G., Kristeller, J., & Merriam, P. (2008). Mindfulness, spirituality, and health-related symptoms. *Journal of Psychosomatic Research*, 64(4), 393-403.
- Cohen-Katz, J., Wiley, S. D., Capuano, T., Baker, D. M., & Shapiro, S. (2004). The effects of mindfulness-based stress reduction on nurse stress and burnout. *Holistic Nursing Practice*, 18(6), 302-308.
- Evans, W., & Kelly, B. (2004). Preregistration diploma student nurse stress and coping measures. *Nurse Education Today*, 24, 473-482.

- Gunaratana, H. (1990). *Mindfulness in plain English* [Electronic version]. Retrieved May 27, 2009, from http://www.urbandharma.org/pdf/mindfulness\_in\_plain \_english.pdf
- Hains, A. B., Vu, M. A. T., Maciejewski, P. K., van Dyck, C. H., Gottron, M., & Arnsten, A. F. T. (2009). Inhibition of protein kinase C signaling protects prefrontal cortex dendritic spines and cognition from the effects of chronic stress. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 106(42), 17957-17962.
- Jain, S., Shapiro, S. L., Swanick, S., Roesch, S. C., Mills, P. J., Bell, I. et al. (2007). A randomized controlled trial of mindfulness meditation versus relaxation training: Effects on distress, positive states of mind, rumination, and distraction. *Annals of Behavioral Medicine*, 33(1), 11-21.
- Jones, M. C., & Johnston, D. W. (1997). Distress, stress, and coping in first-year student nurses. *Journal of Advanced Nursing*, 26(4), 475-482.
- Jones, M. C., & Johnston, D. W. (2000). Evaluating the impact of a worksite stress management program for distressed students: A randomized controlled trial. *Psychology and Health*, *15*, 689-706.
- Kabat-Zinn, J. (1992). Full catastrophe living: Using the wisdom of your body and mind to face stress, pain, and illness. New York: Dell Publishing.
- Kabat-Zinn, J. (1994). Wherever you go, there you are: Mindfulness meditation in everyday life. New York: Hyperion.
- Kabat-Zinn, J. (2003) Mindfulness-based interventions in context: Past, present, and future. *Clinical Psychology: Science and Practice*, 10, 144-156.
- Kabat-Zinn, J. (2006). *Mindfulness for beginners* (Compact Disc Recording No. W1043D). Boulder, CO: Sounds True.
- Levett-Jones, T., Lathlean, J., Higgins, I., & McMillan, M. (2009). Staff-student relationships and their impact on nursing students' belongingness and learning. *Journal of Advanced Nursing*, 65(2), 316-324.
- Locken, T., & Norberg, H. (2005). *Reduced anxiety improves learning ability of nursing students through utilization of mentoring triads*. Abstract retrieved June 3, 2009, from http://nursing.byu.edu/Documents/research/abstracts\_05-06/Locken,%20Norberg%20(2005)%20Reduced%20Anxiety%20Improves%20Le arning%20Ability%20of%20Nursing%20Students%20Through%20....pdf

- Mackenzie, C. S., Poulin, P. A., & Seidman-Carlson, R. (2006). A brief mindfulness-based stress reduction intervention for nurses. *Applied Nursing Research*, 19(2), 105-109.
- McKinnon, D. (2010, June 1). *Mediation of effects in prevention science*. Paper presented at the annual Society for Prevention Research Conference, Denver.
- McVicar, A. (2003). Workplace stress in nursing. *Journal of Advanced Nursing*, 44, 633-642.
- Moscaritolo, L. M. (2009). Interventional strategies to decrease nursing student anxiety in the clinical learning environment. *Journal of Nursing Education*, 48(1), 17-23.
- Nyklícek, I., & Kuijpers, K. F. (2008). Effects of mindfulness-based stress reduction intervention on psychological well-being and quality of life: Is increased mindfulness indeed the mechanism? *Annals of Behavioral Medicine*, 35(3), 331-340.
- Osborne, J. W. (2000). Advantages of hierarchical linear modeling. *Practical Assessment, Research, & Evaluation, 7*(1), Retrieved August 16, 2009, from http://PAREonline.net/getvn.asp?v=7&n=1
- Palumbo, M. L., Fosser, N. S., Rios, H., Zubilete, A. Z., Guelman, L. R., Cremaschi, G. A. et al. (2007). Loss of hippocampal neuronal nitric oxide synthase contributes to the stress-related deficit in learning and memory. *Journal of Neurochemistry*, 102, 261-274.
- Poulin, P. A., Mackenzie, C. S., Soloway, G., & Karayolas, E. (2008). Mindfulness training as an evidence-based approach to reducing stress and promoting well-being among human services professionals. *International Journal of Health Promotion & Education*, 46(2), 72-80.
- Shapiro, S. L., Astin, J. A., Bishop, S. R., & Cordova, M. (2005). Mindfulness-based stress reduction for health-care professionals: Results from a randomized trial. *International Journal of Stress Management*, 12, 164-176.
- Shapiro, S. L., Oman, D., Thoresen, C. E., Plante, T. G., & Flinders, T. (2008). Cultivating mindfulness: Effects on well-being. *Journal of Clinical Psychology*, 64(7), 840-852.
- Stephens, R. (1992). Imagery: A treatment for nursing student anxiety. *Journal of Nursing Education*, 31(7), 314-320.

- Smith, B. W., Shelley, B. M., Dalen, J., Wiggins, K., Tooley, E., & Bernard, J. (2008). A pilot study comparing the effects of mindfulness-based and cognitive-behavioral stress reduction. *Journal of Alternative and Complementary Medicine*, *14*(3), 251-258.
- Tanaka, A., Takehara, T., & Yamaguichi, H. (2006). Achievement goals in a presentation task: Performance expectancy achievement goals, state anxiety, and task performance. *Learning and Individual Differences*, 16, 93-99.
- Watson, R., Gardiner, E., Hogston, R., Stimpson, A., Wrate, R., & Deary, I. (2009). A longitudinal study of stress and psychological distress in nurses and nursing students. *Journal of Clinical Nursing*, 18(2), 270-278.
- Young, L. E., Bruce, A., & Turner, L. (2001). Evaluation of a mindfulness-based stress reduction intervention. *Canadian Nurse*, 97(6), 23-26.

#### **CHAPTER 5**

#### SUMMARY AND CONCLUSIONS

The purpose of this study was to investigate the effectiveness of a brief stress reduction intervention of mindfulness as a method of decreasing stress and ultimately the risk for depression while increasing self-efficacy with clinical skill performance in a 1st-year associate degree student nurse population. Health care and the educational process to obtain a license as a nurse have been identified as areas of increased stress (Beddoe & Murphy, 2004; Evans & Kelly, 2004; Geiger-Brown, Muntaner, & Trinkoff, 2004; Jones & Johnston, 1997; Marine, Routsalainen, Serra, & Verbeek, 2009; Tveito & Eriksen, 2009; Watson et al., 2009; Young, Bruce, & Turner, 2001) and decreased self-efficacy (Bandura, 1997). Few studies examine mindfulness interventions as a way to reduce stress in nursing students or the mediators of the connection among stress, risk for depression, and self-efficacy in skills performance.

#### **Research Questions**

Research was conducted to answer the following research questions:

 Compared with the no-treatment group, is there a decrease in depression scores after participating in the brief stress reduction intervention as measured by the Center for Epidemiologic Studies Depression Scale (Radloff, 1977)?

- 2. Compared with the no-treatment control group, are the participants' physiological measures of stress (i.e., blood pressure and pulse) lower at later measurements than at baseline following participation in the mindfulness breathing?
- 3. Is there greater improvement in higher-risk students for relative risk of depression, as determined by the Center for Epidemiologic Studies

  Depression Scale (Radloff, 1977) scores of 16 or greater, in measures of stress, as determined by physiological measures of blood pressure and pulse, than lower-risk students at baseline?
- 4. Compared with the no-treatment control group, is there an increase in mindfulness scores for the brief stress reduction intervention participants after completing the mindfulness breathing as measured by the Mindfulness Attention Awareness Scale (Brown & Ryan, 2003)?
- 5. Compared with the no-treatment control group, is there an increase in self-efficacy after completing the mindfulness breathing stress reduction intervention as measured by the Student Clinical Completion Appraisal form (see Appendix B)?
- 6. Compared with the no-treatment control group, is there an increase in clinical performance skills following participation in the mindfulness breathing as demonstrated by individual performance grading sheets?

This study was conducted utilizing a two-group, randomized, control trial design with four repeated measures with 1st-year nursing students in the 1st semester of a 2-year associate degree nursing program at a college in northern Utah. The sample was predominately Caucasian (89.4%) and female (87.1%), with ages ranging from 19 to 45 years. The participants were recruited from 120 nursing students enrolled in 1 of 12 fall

classes referred to as Foundations of Nursing Practice Clinical. Of the 120 students, 89 returned the consent form, with 4 of those individuals withdrawing following the first meeting. Eighty-five students completed the research.

Outcomes were measured using standardized instruments commonly employed in research (i.e., Center for Epidemiologic Studies Depression Scale, Mindfulness Attention Awareness Scale, and physiological measures). One instrument was developed for this study (i.e., Student Clinical Completion Appraisal form) following Bandura's (2006) guidelines for self-efficacy scale development. Reliability for the self-efficacy scale was .91. Clinical skills were measured with standardized grading sheets used throughout the nursing program in the university.

Data collection commenced in November 2009 during the 11th week of a 15-week semester, with the final data collection ending in March 2010. Analysis was conducted with SPSS, Version 18, for Windows.

### Results

The current study, examining the effects of mindfulness breathing on risk for depression, self-efficacy, and skills performance in a 1st-year student nurse sample, presented important information with regard to stress management in a student nurse population. The dependent variables investigated include stress (i.e., blood pressure and pulse), risk for depression (i.e., Center for Epidemiologic Studies Depression Scale), mindfulness (i.e., Mindfulness Attention Awareness Scale), and self-efficacy (i.e., Student Clinical Completion Appraisal form and clinical skill grading sheets).

The results suggested that mindfulness may benefit students as they progress through the educational experience. In the intervention group, the Center for

Epidemiologic Studies Depression Scale measures demonstrated a greater decrease in scores, thus the risk for depression. Initial scores were lower in the intervention group, which could be related to participants altering their behavior due to awareness of being in the study, referred to as the *Hawthorne Effect* (Norwood, 2000).

With regard to physiological measures, blood pressure demonstrated a greater decrease in the intervention group. Of interest is the pattern for physiological measures, with a large decrease in both groups between pretest and posttest. This decrease could be related to the timing of the measures. Data collection began at the end of the semester at a time when students may have been feeling increased stress. Posttest collection occurred during a 3-week holiday break between semesters. This rest from school could have resulted in a state of normal relaxation for the participants that was unrelated to the intervention.

Mindfulness, self-efficacy, and clinical skills performance did not reach statistical significance as expected, although correlations indicated that mindfulness may have contributed to improvements in self-efficacy and skills performance. As mindfulness increased, self-efficacy and skills performance also increased. The lack of greater improvements in these areas could be attributed to the timing of the study. Students were completing the 1st semester, during which time new skills had been taught and practiced frequently. At the time of pretest, students had completed the majority of learning with regard to skills and had been practicing or performing those skills in the clinical setting, thus gaining more confidence. Students were required to pay attention to details in the procedures. In addition, they may have gained the ability to pay attention to greater detail in multiple areas. It was encouraging to note the positive correlations among mindfulness, self-efficacy, and skills performance, suggesting that mindfulness can contribute to learning and performing skills in a clinical or educational setting.

The development of a positive mental attitude and confidence in students early in the educational process may have contributed to an improved learning environment, which can further enhance the experiences of students. Positive experiences will further contribute to a positive attitude, which can carry over into the workplace, thus leading to decreased burnout and risk for depression during employment while enhancing satisfaction in the workplace. A program evaluation found that the majority of students (91%) in the intervention group felt satisfied with the program, would continue the practice, and would recommend the mindfulness breathing to other students. Some students commenting on the use of mindfulness breathing believed that it had contributed to lower blood pressure, decreased number of headaches, and better sleeping. Others stated the ability to focus on the tasks at hand and to decrease anxiety when faced with a new situation.

#### **Study Limitations**

Study limitations observed during the research included external threats to validity such as the external threat of inadvertent diffusion of the intervention to the control group. The randomized class design was selected to reduce all internal threats to the validity of the data because the experimental and control students were both maturing at the same rate and they were both experiencing local and national history and the repeated tests. The external threat of diffusion of the intervention to the no-treatment control group could not be controlled for by the experimental design. The student nurses had other classes together and could have shared mindfulness techniques despite the instruction to refrain from discussion of the intervention. In addition, the follow-up posttesting could have been contaminated by this diffusion because the students were placed in different

clinical groups that included both intervention and control participants after the posttest, leading to greater interaction among the participants. This diffusion of the intervention at follow-up testing would have only reduced the statistically significant differences in the groups; rather, the outcomes increased over time.

Maturation is a less likely possible threat to the internal validity of the outcomes in terms of statistically significant differences in improvements of the experimental group compared with the control group because both the experimental and control student groups were maturing equally and becoming more familiar with procedures, clinical situations, and the learning process by 4-month follow-up. However, the within-group analysis of variance decreased in stress and depression, and improvements in clinical self-efficacy in both groups could be explained by maturation.

By employing a randomized class design, the sample size was the number of classes, which reduced the power to detect significant differences. The hierarchical linear modeling design helped to control for nesting effects of students within randomized classes, but it also reduced the ability to detect statistical differences. Hence, the effect sizes were of greater interest and were reasonably large. The control group probably improved because they were not a true no-treatment control group but were a treatment-as-usual control group receiving the nursing skills training class. Their involvement in this nursing skills class would have increased self-efficacy with clinical skills that helped to reduce their depression and stress by the end of class. However, only those with the mindfulness breathing intervention maintained these gains over time.

### **Applications**

### Recommendations for Future Research

Recommendations for future research should consider obtaining a larger sample size. The larger size would assist in detecting differences in measures that may not have been evident in this sample. Earlier recruiting to enroll student participants before the stresses of school could possibly increase the number of students willing to participate. Earlier recruitment may also lead to a greater willingness on the part of participants in the intervention group to continue practicing the intervention more frequently during the study, as the number of days practiced has been found to lead to greater benefits (Carmody & Baer, 2008; Mason & Hargreaves, 2001). Participants in the current study reported practicing an average of 3 days. A comparison of the days practiced with the results of the study would assist in the identification of those obtaining greater benefits. Another consideration is the maintenance of groups as intervention or control. In the current study, participants were placed in new groups following the semester break, which could have affected the results from the interaction of the participants.

Timing of the data gathering was not part of the research design. Control for data gathering should be considered to ensure that participants are completing the questionnaires with approximately the same level of stress. For example, students would complete the questionnaires prior to a clinical laboratory experience rather than prior to or following a clinical rotation in a health-care facility when stress levels are increased. Including greater diversity with a wider geographical area could contribute to an increased ability to generalize to a wider population. The current study included only one school, in one geographical area, with limited diversity. It is important to note that nursing tends to attract more female students than male students; consequently, increased

gender diversity may be limited.

# Recommendations for Health Promotion and Education

The education of nursing students to care for themselves in order to be a better provider of care is an important aspect of training. By learning and participating in mindfulness, students will have a method of stress management to utilize in a variety of stress-producing situations that can contribute to more positive outcomes. Students who have positive outcomes and experiences will be an asset to the profession as they encourage and support those around them. Managing stress for positive outcomes is especially important, as the health-care industry faces the impact of increasing numbers in an aging population utilizing the health-care industry.

#### References

- Bandura, A. (1997). *Self-efficacy: The exercise of control*. New York: W. H. Freeman and Company.
- Bandura, A. (2006). Guide for constructing self-efficacy scales. In A. Bandura (Ed.), *Self-efficacy beliefs of adolescents* (pp. 307-337). Charlotte, NC: Information Age Publishing.
- Beddoe, A. E., & Murphy, S. O. (2004). Does mindfulness decrease stress and foster empathy among nursing students? *Journal of Nursing Education*, 34(7), 305-312.
- Brown, K. W., & Ryan, R. M. (2003). The benefits of being present: Mindfulness and its role in psychological well-being. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 84, 822-848.
- Carmody, J., & Baer, R. A. (2008). Relationships between mindfulness practice and levels of mindfulness, medical and psychological symptoms and well-being in a mindfulness-based stress reduction program. *Journal of Behavioral Medicine*, *31*, 23-33.

- Evans, W., & Kelly, B. (2004). Preregistration diploma student nurse stress and coping measures. *Nurse Education Today*, 24, 473-482.
- Geiger-Brown, J., Muntaner, J. L., & Trinkoff, A. (2004). Demanding work schedules and mental health in nursing assistants working in nursing homes. *Work & Stress*, 18(4), 292-304.
- Jones, M., & Johnston, D. W. (1997). Distress, stress, and coping in first-year student nurses. *Journal of Advanced Nursing*, 26(4), 475-482.
- Marine, A., Routsalainen, J. H., Serra, C., & Verbeek, J. H. (2009). *Preventing occupational stress in health-care workers* [Electronic version]. Hoboken, NJ: John Wiley & Sons Ltd.
- Mason, O., & Hargreaves, I. (2001). A qualitative study of mindfulness-based cognitive therapy for depression. *British Journal of Medical Psychology*, 74, 197-212.
- Norwood, S. L. (2000). *Research strategies for advanced practice nurses*. Upper Saddle River, NJ: Pearson Education.
- Radloff, L. S. (1977). The CES-D Scale: A self-report depression scale for research in the general population. *Applied Psychological Measurement*, *1*(3), 385-401.
- Tveito, T. H., & Eriksen, H. R. (2009). Integrated health program: A workplace randomized controlled trial. *Journal of Advanced Nursing*, 65(1), 110-119.
- Watson, R., Gardiner, E., Hogston, R., Stimpson, A., Wrate, R., & Deary, I. (2009). A longitudinal study of stress and psychological distress in nurses and nursing students. *Journal of Clinical Nursing*, 18(2), 270-278.
- Young, L. E., Bruce, A., & Turner, L. (2001). Evaluation of a mindfulness-based stress reduction intervention. *Canadian Nurse*, 97(6), 23-26.

### APPENDIX A

CONSENT AND AUTHORIZATION

#### Background

You are being invited to take part in a research study. Before you decide, it is important for you to understand why the research is being done and what it will involve. Please take time to read the following information carefully. Ask us if there is anything that is not clear or if you would like more information. Take time to decide whether you want to volunteer to take part in this study.

The purpose of this research is to identify any benefits from the use of a brief stress reduction method in nursing students. The demands of school and clinical requirements lead to increased stress, which can induce physical and mental health problems. Identification and management of stress early in the educational process contribute to learning and educational success.

#### Study Procedure

If you agree to be in this study, your clinical group will be randomly assigned (an equal probability of being in any of the groups) to one of two of the following groups:

- 1. Participants will engage in a stress management technique (60 minutes of instruction) with the clinical skills practice for 3 weeks and be asked to keep a daily log checklist (which should take fewer than 5 minutes to complete each day).
- 2. Participants will be following the regular clinical skills practice.

Both groups will be asked to complete three questionnaires at the beginning of the study, 5 weeks after the study begins, and then again at 2 months and 4 months. These questionnaires will take approximately 20 minutes of your time to complete.

#### Risks

The risks of this study are minimal. Possible risks may include physical discomfort when participating in the breathing exercises or emotional discomfort when completing the three questionnaires. These risks are similar to those you experience when discussing personal information with others. If you feel upset from this experience, you can tell the researcher, and she will tell you about resources available to help.

#### Benefits

There are no guaranteed direct benefits. The potential benefits include helping us to learn if the stress reduction is effective in helping nursing students to decrease stress and increase learning.

#### **Alternative Procedures**

If you do not wish to take part in this research study, you do not have to participate. You can still participate in your clinical group activities.

#### Confidentiality

Your data will be kept confidential. Questionnaires, daily log practice sheets, and personal data will be identifiable by number only. Data and records will be stored in a locked filing cabinet as well as on a password-protected computer located in the researcher's work space. Only the researcher will have access to this information. All materials will be handled in a confidential manner; no names will be used in any of the information entered into the database, data analysis, or publications. Everything possible will be done to keep information gathered in the group confidential. We ask that you and other participants keep all information confidential. There is a chance that a group member might mention your name in a conversation. Consequently, we cannot guarantee that no one will share your comments at a later time.

#### Person to Contact

If you have questions, complaints, or concerns about this study, you can contact Diane Leggett, MSN, RN, at (435)237-4448, or if you feel you have been harmed as a result of participation, please call Karol Kumpfer, PhD, afternoons and evenings at the University of Utah at (801)581-7718 or at home mornings (801)583-4601. Dr. Kumpfer can be reached at these numbers from 7:00 a.m. to 10:00 p.m.

### **Institutional Review Board**

Contact the Institutional Review Board if you have questions regarding your rights as a research participant. Also, contact the Institutional Review Board if you have questions, complaints, or concerns that you do not feel you can discuss with the investigator. The University of Utah Institutional Review Board may be reached by phone at (801)581-3655 or by e-mail at irb@hsc.utah.edu.

### Research Participant Advocate

You may also contact the research participant advocate by phone at (801)581-3803 or by e-mail at participant.advocate@hsc.utah.edu.

### **Voluntary Participation**

It is up to you to decide whether to take part in this study. Refusal to participate or the decision to withdraw from this research will involve no penalty or loss of benefits to which you are otherwise entitled. This will not affect your relationship with the investigator.

### Costs and Compensation to Participants

For compensation as a participant of this study, you will be entered in a drawing to win one of two automatic blood pressure cuffs or one of two \$40.00 gift certificates from the Weber State University bookstore.

#### Consent

By signing this consent form, I confirm I have read the information in this consent form and have had the opportunity to ask questions. I will be given a signed copy of this consent form. I voluntarily agree to take part in this study.

Printed Name of Participant		
Signature of Participant	Date	
Printed Name of Researcher or Staff		
Signature of Researcher or Staff	Date	

### APPENDIX B

STUDENT CLINICAL COMPLETION APPRAISAL FORM

Entering a new clinical situation can be stressful for the student nurse. Skills are no longer performed on mannequins but on real people. Nurses care for multiple patients with multiple needs, have limited time, and may not always appreciate working with a student. Students are expected to be ready to perform nursing duties. Situations listed may make it difficult to complete required tasks. As you answer each question, please respond as you feel at this time, not what you think you should feel.

<u>Use the scale below to indicate the number that best represents your present level of confidence.</u>

Scale										
0	10	20	30	40	50	60	70	80	90	100
Cannot do at all		Probably cannot do		Moderately certain can do				oably 1 do	Highly car	certain n do

### How confident are you that you can:

1.	Ask th	ne clinic	cal instr	uctor or	mento	ring nur	se for h	elp?			
	0	10	20	30	40	50	60	70	80	90	100
2.	Comp	lete req	uired re	eading p	rior to	clinical/	laborato	ory expe	erience	)	
	0	10	20	30	40	50	60	70	80	90	100
3.	Recall	medica	ation ef	fects an	d side e	ffects w	hen qu	estioned	1?		
	0	10	20	30	40	50	60	70	80	90	100
4.	Keep	a sterile	e field w	hen rec	uired?						
	0	10	20	30	40	50	60	70	80	90	100
5.	Reme	mber th	e steps	of the p	rocedui	e prior	to and w	while pe	rformir	ng?	
	0	10	20	30	40	50	60	70	80	90	100

6. Manage the needs of two or more patients at a time when rordered?							nultiple	procedu	ires are		
	0	10	20	30	40	50	60	70	80	90	100
How c	<u>onfiden</u>	t are yo	u that y	ou can	<u>comple</u>	te tasks	when:				
7.	The mentoring nurse asks for the names of and reasons for giving medications prior to administration?										ions
	0	10	20	30	40	50	60	70	80	90	100
8.	The ste	erile baı	ndage ro	olls off	the ster	ile field	you are	prepar	ing?		
	0	10	20	30	40	50	60	70	80	90	100
9.	-		ants to l		ow man	y times	you hav	ve cathe	eterized	before l	etting
	0	10	20	30	40	50	60	70	80	90	100
10.	-		fuses to is gone	_	e positio	on or ass	sist in aı	ny way	for the o	dressing	change
	0	10	20	30	40	50	60	70	80	90	100
11.	During the final steps of inserting a urinary catheter, the patient jumps and complains of pain?										
	0	10	20	30	40	50	60	70	80	90	100

## APPENDIX C

DEMOGRAPHIC SURVEY

Questionnaire instructions: You have agreed to participate in a research study with the purpose of determining the effectiveness of a brief stress reduction intervention with 1st-year nursing students. This study is being conducted to fill the gap in knowledge between stress and clinical performance. The results of this study will assist clinical instructors and future students to develop more effective stress management methods. The following questions are asked in order to gather information relevant to the study. There is no right or wrong answer, just the best answer as it relates to you. You don't have to answer any questions you don't want to. Just be sure to answer each question as accurately as you can. If you have any questions, please ask. Your answers will be kept confidential and will not be shared with anyone. Please do not write any name on this survey and put only your identification number.

This questionnaire contains demographic questions about you, followed by a satisfaction survey, the Mindfulness Attention Awareness Scale, the Nursing Skills Self-Efficacy Scale, and the Center for Epidemiologic Studies Depression Scale.

Thank you! We appreciate all of your efforts!

Widowed

Please answer	some general questions about yourself.
1.	What is your age?
2.	What is your gender?  ☐ Male ☐ Female
3.	What is your race?  ☐ African American ☐ Asian or Pacific Islander ☐ Caucasian ☐ Hispanic/Latino ☐ Native American ☐ Other (specify):
4.	What is your marital status?  ☐ Married/partnered ☐ Single (never been married) ☐ Divorced or separated

5.	Ages	of children living at home:
		None
		0 to 5 years of age
		6 to 12 years of age
		13 to 18 years of age
		19 to 25 years of age
		> 25 years of age
6.	Highe	est grade of school you have completed:
		Some college
		Associate's degree
		<del>-</del>
		Master's degree
7.	Do yo	ou consider yourself competent in managing personal stress?
		Yes
		No
8.	Have	you ever participated in any of the following:
		Meditation
		Stress management
		Time management
9.	How	many hours per week do you work in paid employment? (hours/week)

### APPENDIX D

MINDFUL BREATHING SCRIPT

#### Welcome and Introduction

Welcome to this program of mindful breathing. Breathing is a universal phenomenon that occurs regularly without attention on our part. Our purpose in these three sessions in this class on stress management through mindful breathing is to pay attention to our breath from moment-to-moment. Research suggests that deep breathing actually induces stress-releasing neurotransmitters. Hence, being more mindful of deep breathing can reduce your stress in a difficult clinical situation.

### **Step 1: Preparation**

Before proceeding, please make sure your physical needs such as thirst, hunger, or toileting are managed. Find a quiet place with comfortable seating.

### Step 2: Noticing But Not Changing Your Breathing

Make yourself comfortable and notice your breathing. Pay attention to the breath as it comes in and as it goes out. Do not force your breathing, just observe each breath as it moves in and as it moves out. Trace the air and observe the sensation of the breath for the full duration of breathing in. Become aware of the full duration of your *in breath*. Now become aware of the full duration of your *out breath*. Observe the act of breathing from moment-to-moment as the air slowly moves in and out. As the air is moving in, notice where it is felt—within your nose and beyond—as the air progressively enters. As the inhalation reaches the end, notice the brief pause that occurs before exhalation. Again, pay attention to where you feel the air moving as it is exhaled. There will be another brief pause before inhalation begins again. These pauses occur with each inhalation and with each exhalation. They are so brief that you may not be aware of them, but by paying attention and being mindful of the breathing, you can notice them.

Continue observing each breath as it comes in and as it goes out, predictable and constant. Be mindful of the movements in the chest with each inhalation and with each exhalation. Notice any movement in the abdomen as you observe each breath moment-to-moment with mindfulness. Does the chest expand? Does the chest contract? Is the abdomen expanding with the inhalation? Is the abdomen contracting with the exhalation?

Notice the pattern of the breath. Is it a short breath or a long breath? In the beginning, as you observe the breath, it may be short. As the calm begins to settle in, observe the lengthening of the breath with each inhalation and each exhalation. Observe the long breath's ability to calm and compose the body. Continuation of the short breath is rough and can lead to uneasiness and discomfort.

#### Step 3: Practice the Long Breath

Practice making the breath long.

### Step 4: Being Present

While you are observing the breath, you may find your mind wandering to another task. Do not chastise yourself, simply turn your attention to the complete breathing cycle from moment-to-moment. The mind is marvelous and will perform the task for which it has been trained, which is thinking. Thinking is not bad, but it can lead you away from the task of mindful breathing. Return to the awareness of the breath and the act of breathing, letting your body relax and be supported as you again become aware of the breathing, slowly breathing in and breathing out. When thoughts enter, let them pass and simply return to the breath. There is no need to dwell on thoughts, simply accept their presence but let them pass and return to awareness to the breathing.

### Step 5: Clinical and Home Practice

This practice enables you to be present in the here-and-now by being aware of your breathing cycle moment-to-moment. Notice the relaxed feeling you achieve with mindful breathing. You should practice mindful breathing for approximately 10 to 15 minutes each day. As you continue each day with this, you will find yourself becoming more aware of things surrounding you moment-to-moment. Congratulations on your growing experience of mindfulness!

APPENDIX E

DEBRIEFING SCRIPT

The students will be asked the following debriefing questions as part of the curriculum protocol to help them internalize and generalize their learning to other clinical and personal stressful situations. These questions will be presented verbally in group and discussed but are not part of the data collection. These sessions will be audiotaped for consistency. The debriefing questions are listed below:

- 1. What was your experience with mindfulness breathing?
- 2. How did mindfulness breathing work?
- 3. What happened as you were participating in the mindfulness breathing?
- 4. How do you feel about mindfulness breathing?
- 5. How do you feel about the possibility of using this as a stress reduction technique during stressful clinical experiences?
- 6. How could you apply this mindfulness breathing to stressful clinical and personal experiences?
- 7. What is it about mindfulness breathing that allows you to focus on specific nursing tasks or skills such as dressing changes or catheter insertions?
- 8. What insights did you gain during the mindfulness breathing?
- 9. How can mindfulness breathing help you in your skills during clinical laboratories such as medication administration, dressing changes, or catheter insertions?
- 10. Is mindfulness breathing something that can help you in other areas in your life?

### APPENDIX F

DAILY PRACTICE LOG AND PHYSIOLOGICAL MEASURES

Please put a check on each day that you participate in 20 minutes of mindfulness breathing. Bring this to your clinical laboratory and give to your clinical instructor each week. The logs are color coded and labeled for each week: Week 1 = yellow, Week 2 = green, Week 3 = orange, Week 4 = pink, and Week 5 = lavender.

### Week 1

Sunday	Monday	Tuesday	Wednesday	Thursday	Friday	Saturday
			d to the experi nd so on, pleas			y changes
		Phy	siological Mea	sures		

Blood pressure / R or L / Time	Pulse

Please put a check on each day that you participate in 20 minutes of mindfulness breathing. Bring this to your clinical laboratory and give to your clinical instructor each week. The logs are color coded and labeled for each week: Week 1 = yellow, Week 2 = green, Week 3 = orange, Week 4 = pink, and Week 5 = lavender.

### Week 2

Sunday	Monday	Tuesday	Wednesday	Thursday	Friday	Saturday				
If you have any comments with regard to the experience this week such as any changes you notice, difficulty with practice, and so on, please include here:										

Blood pressure / R or L / Time	Pulse

Please put a check on each day that you participate in 20 minutes of mindfulness breathing. Bring this to your clinical laboratory and give to your clinical instructor each week. The logs are color coded and labeled for each week: Week 1 = yellow, Week 2 = green, Week 3 = orange, Week 4 = pink, and Week 5 = lavender.

### Week 3

Sunday	Monday	Tuesday	Wednesday	Thursday	Friday	Saturday
			d to the experi			y changes
you notice, d	lifficulty with	h practice, a	nd so on, pleas	e include her	e:	

Blood pressure / R or L / Time	Pulse

Please put a check on each day that you participate in 20 minutes of mindfulness breathing. Bring this to your clinical laboratory and give to your clinical instructor each week. The logs are color coded and labeled for each week: Week 1 = yellow, Week 2 = green, Week 3 = orange, Week 4 = pink, and Week 5 = lavender.

### Week 4

Sunday	Monday	Tuesday	Wednesday	Thursday	Friday	Saturday
If you have any comments with regard to the experience this week such as any changes you notice, difficulty with practice, and so on, please include here:						

Blood pressure / R or L / Time	Pulse

Please put a check on each day that you participate in 20 minutes of mindfulness breathing. Bring this to your clinical laboratory and give to your clinical instructor each week. The logs are color coded and labeled for each week: Week 1 = yellow, Week 2 = green, Week 3 = orange, Week 4 = pink, and Week 5 = lavender.

### Week 5

Sunday	Monday	Tuesday	Wednesday	Thursday	Friday	Saturday
If you have any comments with regard to the experience this week such as any changes you notice, difficulty with practice, and so on, please include here:						

Blood pressure / R or L / Time	Pulse